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strong sustainable growth to 
make a diff erence to people's 
lives, homes and communiti es

“ “

Our vision is:
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Chair’s report

Alex Ashton
Chair of the Board

Having been on the Board for several years it gives me 
an enormous sense of pride to be the Chair of such a 
great organisati on, full of great people dedicated to 
the Wales & West Housing Way and truly making a 
diff erence to lives, homes and communiti es. 

We make a diff erence to people’s lives by giving 
them a secure place to call their own, to raise their 
family, to make careers or form new businesses and 
confront the other challenges they face in their lives. 
We make a diff erence to people’s homes by investi ng 
to keep them in good conditi on, improving standards 
of living, helping to tackle fuel poverty and giving the 
children who grow up in our homes the best start in 
life. We make a diff erence to people’s communiti es 
by standing side-by-side with them in the challenges 
they face, bringing diverse groups of people together, 
helping them to help themselves and one another, 
and addressing anti -social behaviour wherever it 
occurs.

I became Chair in June, but I have been involved 
with Wales & West Housing one way or another for 
over 15 years and I have seen the development and 
growth that has made it the Best Companies 3 star 
”extraordinary employer” it is today. This is testament 
to the hard work and dedicati on of our staff  and I 
want to thank each and every one of them for their 
amazing work. However, we would not be here if it 
was not for the people who live in our homes. In a 
Welsh context, we are a large housing associati on 
yet have not lost our deeply held social purpose. We 
build homes and we also build relati onships - behind 
every one of our 12,000 front doors are individuals 
and families who we want to see thrive in their 
homes.Extraordinary
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Over the past year the Board has been on a mission 
to get out into the work place and meet the people 
who live in our properties. I was privileged to 
accompany one of our brilliant housing officers 
around Bridgend. This is an area I feel I know well, 
having lived in the town for 30 years, yet I learnt a 
lot that day. I learnt about the impact that changes 
in the benefit system are having on some of our 
residents. One visit that stood out for me was to the 
home of an older gentleman. He always paid his rent 
on time, was never in arrears, yet he told us how he 
was struggling to manage the new online Universal 
Credit system. It was so rewarding to see the open, 
trusting relationship he had with us and how we 
were supporting him. That day I also saw the practical 

ways that our new rent management system is 
making a difference to support our residents. These 
are the daily challenges that we face, but these are 
challenges that we rise to. 

I feel honoured to be part of this organisation that is 
so true to its values and I am incredibly positive about 
what the future holds, a view which I know is shared 
by my fellow Board members. We are proud of the 
work that our staff do each and every day to support 
some of the most vulnerable in society. As we move 
into 2020 and beyond, we will continue to focus on 
solving the right problems with our residents: one 
person, one contact, one step at a time.
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In 2019, we have once again delivered new homes, 
delivered a strong fi nancial performance and 
delivered a high quality service to our residents. 
We focus on value for money, making sure we run 
an effi  cient business, with high levels of customer 
sati sfacti on, and which delivers social value.

We have signifi cantly increased our development 
capacity over the year, with 708 homes on site at 
the end of the year and over 1,000 further plots 
in our development pipeline. We completed 106 
badly needed new rented homes in 2019, adding to 
our por� olio, and will deliver many more over the 
coming few years. We also delivered 22 low cost 
home ownership homes, helping those who aspire 
to own their own home but who cannot aff ord to 
pay full market price. We will do more of this in 
the coming years, both in building our own and in 
partnership with housebuilders. 

Our work on identi fying the right assets in our 
por� olio conti nued in the year. The vast majority 
of our homes are ones that we can be proud of, 
providing a safe and secure environment for our 
residents to call home. Where we cannot create this 
environment, even with good investment, then we 
will divest ourselves of unsuitable properti es and 
plough that money back into building high quality 
modern homes. We also took the decision to buy 
back, where possible, leasehold fl ats to help us 
have even greater control of fi re safety in our fl att ed 
schemes. Over the year, taking account of buy backs, 
disposals and new developments, there has been 
a net increase of 84 homes during the year, taking 
our por� olio to a total of 12,018 homes owned or 
managed across the whole of Wales. 

Group Chief Executi ve’s report
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owned or managed (2018: 11,934)

12,018 homes

Anne Hinchey
Group Chief Executi ve
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Our principal fi nancial metric, free cash fl ow, increased 
for the consolidated Group by 16.1% to £7.4 million and 
in the Associati on by 15.1%, also to £7.4 million. This 
refl ects growth in rental income, through infl ati onary 
rent increases and the development of new homes, 
our long-term approach to property reinvestment, our 
carefully managed maintenance programme and the 
eff ecti veness of our treasury strategy. We have a strong 
balance sheet positi on, which includes a signifi cant 
unsecured asset por� olio, which provides the fl exibility 
and security to borrow funds at preferenti al rates 
to develop more homes and to confi dently address 
future challenges and opportuniti es. Our average rate 
of interest on our borrowings was 3.49%, with 96% of 
our borrowing at fi xed rates, providing long-term cost 
certainty. 

Investi ng in our existi ng homes is important to us, 
keeping our residents safe and secure. We spent over 
£11.5m in 2019, installing new kitchens, bathrooms, 
boilers and more, with much of that work done by 
Cambria, our maintenance business. 

Our care business (Castell) conti nues to grow, winning 
new contracts in North and West Wales. The range 
of care and support services that Castell provides, 
as well as catering services at our three extra care 
schemes, really does make a personal diff erence to 
people’s lives.

Our biggest project of the year was the creati on and 
installati on of our own housing management system, 
built on the Microsoft  Dynamics pla� orm, to replace 
legacy systems. This has been truly transformati onal 
for our business, parti cularly in how we understand 
how we make the right arrangements with residents 
to pay their rent.

We are a strong housing associati on and we provide 
high quality services to our residents. We have a 
sound business model and a balance sheet that gives 
us the capacity to do even more. It is the right thing to 
do to use our strength to make a diff erence for both 
the residents of the future and our current residents. 
We are a proudly Welsh organisati on and that means 
playing our part in solving the housing crisis in Wales. 
We want a Wales where good housing is a basic 
right for all. Whatever the future holds, we have a 
way of working, the Wales & West Housing Way, 
which allows us to do the right thing effi  ciently and 
eff ecti vely ti me and again and means that we are well 
placed to conti nue to make a diff erence to people’s 
lives, homes and communiti es.

Associati on free cash infl ow
(2018: £6.4 million)

£7.4 million

Staff		parti	cipati	ng	in	interacti	ve	
sessions	at	our	Staff		Conference	

average loan 
interest rate 
(2018: 3.53%)

3.49%
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The Wales & West Housing Way
Every organisati on has a culture and we are very 
deliberate in shaping ours and making sure that 
customers are at the centre.

We express our culture as a series of interconnected 
cogs, each working together with its neighbour to 
create a cohesive whole which is easy to understand 
and designed to be used in the real world. The central 
cog has customers at the centre and summarises 
our culture in three segments, a Vision for ‘Making 
a Diff erence', Behaviours showing ‘Integrity in 
everything’ and Acti ons to ‘Do the right thing’.

They act like our head, heart and hands; the vision 
we see that inspires us, the values we believe that 

drive our behaviour and the acti ons we take to do 
the right thing for staff  and customers alike.  

This culture is the Wales & West Housing Way.
                            
The surrounding interconnecti ng cogs expand on 
the Vision, Behaviours and Acti ons to give a practi cal 
recipe for what it means to make a diff erence, have 
integrity in everything and to do the right thing.

Each cog is focussed on providing practi cal guidance 
and tools centred on making our Vision a reality using 
our Core Values, Leadership Values and Operati ng 
Principles.
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Communiti es across Wales

Extra Care
Home ownership

Supported

General needs
Reti rement

Flintshire
957

Denbighshire
449

Conwy
283

Powys
1,097

Merthyr
469

RCT
308

Caerphilly
227

Cardiff 
3,541

Bridgend
1,443

Vale of 
Glamorgan

654

Wrexham
1,022

Swansea
109

Carmarthenshire
155

Ceredigion
888

Pembrokeshire
416

Total homes
12,018

housing more than

22

We have over

12 thousand
properti es

Local 
Authoriti es

thousand
residents

in

15
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This report refl ects the six strategic prioriti es set out in our Business Plan 
2020-2024, providing commentary and measures of our progress against 
the goals it contains.

CARE for and improve 
WELLBEING

INVEST in the 
right homes

EFFICIENT and 
AFFORDABLE for all

Tackle
HOMELESSNESS

Building 
MORE homes

Digital
TRANSFORMATION

6      Our strategic

prioriti es
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Digital transformati on
We have been on a journey to transform our business 
to focus on what matt ers to our residents and to 
design service delivery from a customer perspecti ve. 
One of the key stages of this journey is digital 
transformati on, using a single operati ng pla� orm 
that will help residents and staff  access services in 
the way that best suits them. 

During the year, we have moved from our legacy 
housing system to our own system, built on the 
Microsoft  Dynamics pla� orm. The new master housing 
system, a single pla� orm, will assist us in removing 
the barriers to our future digital transformati on. It 
has been a huge piece of work , both technologically 
and culturally, changing the way that our housing, 
customer service and fi nance teams work. This 
has been achieved by working with trusted ICT 
development partners, designing the system from the 
ground up. We will conti nue to work in partnership 
as we expand the transformati on work across other 
areas of our business. The new system is truly a result 
of co-producti on between our residents, staff  and 
our partners - preparing a specifi cati on based on our 
engagement with customers, testi ng it with staff  who 
actually know the work, learning what works and 
what was needed. We then tested the prototypes 
with staff  and residents to prepare a fi nal design brief, 
from which we had soft ware built to our specifi cati on.

The new pla� orm has allowed us to use the 
system to allow us to focus on payment plans with 
residents. We have always had arrangements with 
our residents on how they will pay their rent and 
clear any arrears. We are now able to capture this 
in a much bett er way, with the system now able to 
forecast outcomes and tell us when someone hasn’t 
done what they said they would do. We have learnt 
that getti  ng to the resident quickly to support them 
and get them back on track with their rent is the key 
to success. The new system will serve us well as the 
number of Universal Credit cases increases, with all 
of the problems that system brings.

Not unsurprisingly this all works best when we give 
people the right tools to do the job, so this year there 
was a real focus on giving people the right access to 
informati on, the right kit to get to that informati on 
and the right training to use it all well. During the 
year we have transferred the majority of our data 
from legacy drives into the cloud. This puts our data 
in one place, accessible to everyone from anywhere. 
We have rolled out an app that allows staff  to access 
areas of the system remotely, enabling staff  to 
see things even offl  ine. We moved all of our email 
accounts to Offi  ce online and we have refreshed all 
of the hardware for our fi eld based staff .

      Our strategic

prioriti es
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New homes
completed in 2019 

128

Building more homes

Vale of Glamorgan

Bridgend

Merthyr

Powys

Pembrokeshire

Ceredigion

Wrexham

Conwy Flintshire

Denbighshire

Cardiff 

708
New homes 
now on site

1838

140

4

83

41

22

19

3

1

12

40

55

33

147

8

14

23
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Building new homes for the residents of tomorrow is 
really important to us, as we play our part in solving the 
housing crisis in Wales. We were pleased to deliver 128 
NEW HOMES during 2019, which included 106 homes 
for letting (of which 2 were specially built for supported 
living) and 22 Low Cost Home Ownership (LCHO) homes.

We have scaled up our development programme 
significantly this year and are going to deliver even more 
new homes in the next few years. We are currently ON 
SITE BUILDING ANOTHER 708 NEW HOMES across Wales 
and have over 1,000 further plots in our development 
pipeline. The map opposite shows where new homes 
were completed and those on site are located.

Our ambition is significant, underpinned by our financial 
strength. Over the next ten years, we expect to SPEND 
OVER £500M DELIVERING NEW HOMES all across 
Wales. Our priority will continue to be, as it always has 
been, providing social rented housing. However, Wales 
needs homes of all types and tenures and we intend to 
develop homes for low cost home ownership alongside 
our social housing programme. We will undertake this 
work with our Welsh development partners, building 
ever larger sites and giving these SME businesses 
certainty of work, helping them to plan for their futures 
and allowing them to grow with confidence over the 
period of the contract, adding further value to Wales. 

It is important to us not just to build more homes, but to 
build more good quality homes.  We were very pleased 
that the quality of our work has been recognised with 
two of our schemes, Victoria Garage in Ruabon and 
Pentland Close in Cardiff, winning awards at the Welsh 
Housing Awards 2019.

The challenge of the future is to move away from 
traditional ways of building to achieve the high standards 
of energy efficiency, air tightness and low carbon we 
aspire to. We will learn a step at a time, which has 
always been our strength as an organisation and will be 
our approach moving forward.

Local councillors are shown around our new development sites at:

1.	 Maes	Y	Mor	extra	care	scheme	overlooking	Aberystwyth	Harbour
2.	 Our	100	home	development	at	Clive	Lane,	Grangetown,	Cardiff
3.	 Our	development	of	82	accessible	apartments	for	mostly	older	

people	at	Pentland	Close,	Llanishen,	Cardiff
4.	 The	first	homes	for	social	rent	to	be	built	in	Newport,
	 Pembrokeshire	for	more	than	12	years	at	Iard	Y	Parrog
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A decent, safe and warm home is so fundamental 
to living a good life and we want every one of our 
residents to be in the right home for them. Ensuring 
our homes are of a high quality is important to us 
which is why we have maintained compliance with 
the Welsh Housing Quality Standards (WHQS), with a 
very low level of acceptable fails. We have achieved 
this by investi ng the right amount in our properti es, 
which in 2019 was over £11.5m. During the year we 
delivered almost 400 new kitchens, 220 bathrooms, 
over 40 roofi ng projects, nearly 470 windows, doors 
and roofl ine projects and around 250 groundwork 
and external projects. We have also completed more 
than 450 adaptati ons, allowing residents to stay in 
their existi ng homes as their circumstances change.

We have conti nued to focus on keeping our homes 
safe and on being able to evidence that they are. 
During the year we have completed further works 
relati ng to fi re safety and are currently following 
up acti ons from the recently published phase one 
report from the Grenfell public inquiry. To evidence 
compliance, we have introduced property assurance 
frameworks which capture our approach and acti ons 
for the major compliance areas of gas, electricity, fi re, 
asbestos and legionella. 

In 2019, Welsh Government declared a climate 
emergency and commissioned the ‘Bett er Homes, 
Bett er Wales, Bett er World’ report, which sets an 
ambiti ous road map to reduce carbon emissions. 
To help us plan our response, we are reviewing the 
informati on we hold about our homes and are meeti ng 
several ti mes a year to run through, region by region, 
all of the homes we own. It enables us to understand 
which homes are doing well, which are struggling and 
allows us to gather informati on about our homes in 
terms of their operati ng effi  ciency. We’ve already 
taken some steps, with air source heat pumps fi tt ed 
in over 420 of our homes and in 2019 we installed a 
shared loop Ground Source Heat Pump at Bro Castell 
in Pencader. The vast majority of our homes make 
for good housing and we will keep them for the long 
term. There are a very small number of homes where 
the challenges of the property mean that it is hard to 
provide a warm, spacious and safe home. Where this 
is the case, a number of these properti es have been 
sold in 2019, with the proceeds invested in building 
new homes.

Invest in the right homes
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We see at fi rst hand that the need and demand 
for care and support service is insati able, but it is a 
challenging business, where the expectati ons are 
high from both commissioners and understandably 
the people being cared for. As the demand is huge 
we could have been drawn into wide ranging and 
extensive service provision for everyone but we have 
resisted that temptati on. Instead we focus on services 
to our residents and other people in the community 
where that additi onal service provision helps us be 
more resilient and cost eff ecti ve.

We have conti nued to grow sustainably during the 
year, operati ng in a way that uses our approach to 
service delivery to make a diff erence to how we care 
for and support residents. We work closely with the 
residents to understand what matt ers and put in place 
care and support plans that refl ect the outcomes 
they are seeking. We have a solid reputati on for the 
quality of our services and the outcomes achieved are 
overwhelmingly positi ve, with lives transformed and 
people more able to realise their potenti al.  

During 2019, we conti nued to operate three Extra Care 
faciliti es in North and Mid Wales, providing a balance 
between independent living and accessibility for 

Care for and improve wellbeing

One of our residents in 
conversati	on	with	care	staff	

domiciliary care and other support services for both 
older persons and those with complex needs from 
a range of backgrounds. We provide the domiciliary 
care services at one of these Extra Care schemes, 
and the catering services at restaurants in all three 
schemes. Our Extra Care schemes have delivered high 
levels of resident sati sfacti on, successful outcomes 
with progressively reducing care needs for residents 
aft er moving in and signifi cant savings compared with 
full-ti me care or nursing home provision. We will add 
a further two Extra Care schemes over the next two 
years to our service.

Our subsidiary Castell Ventures was successful in 
winning a place on a number of frameworks to deliver 
services in Powys, North Wales and Ceredigion 
following a busy year of tenders. Castell also opened a 
new support service during the year for an individual 
with complex needs. This new service being won on 
reputati on rather than through a tender process. 
During the year, Castell also became registered with 
the Care Inspectorate Wales in West Wales, meaning 
that it is now registered to provide services in eight 
Welsh counti es.
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Tackle homelessness

There is a rising ti de of homelessness and rough 
sleeping in Wales. The latest stati sti cs tell us that 2019 
saw an increase of 18% in households threatened 
with homelessness, a 4% increase in the number of 
homeless households (up to almost 1 in 100 people 
being homeless) and an 18% increase in the number 
of homeless households who are in priority need. 
Only a small percentage of this homelessness is 
because of evicti ons from social housing, but Welsh 
Government have made it clear that they want to 
see an end to evicti ons into homelessness from 
social housing and this absolutely aligns with our 
approach.

Our approach has always been to help people sustain 
their tenancy. We believe that it is the right thing to 
do to help people stay in their homes and the way 
we manage our rent system supports and drives that 
approach. We have held our nerve over the years 
in not pushing cases into court and doing the right 
thing when someone is trying their best during hard 
ti mes. Our approach is support them and try to help 
them.  We have made a diff erence by keeping our 
evicti ons low and only where it is really the last 

resort, evicti ng a ti ny number of people in 2019. 
We have been recognised in the Welsh Government 
Homelessness Stati sti cs as being one of the best 
performing landlords in Wales in terms of keeping 
levels of evicti ons low and sustaining tenancies.

We are fi rm believers in the Housing First concept to 
help tackle homelessness. Housing First is founded 
on the principle of housing being a basic human right 
and provides permanent accommodati on for people 
straight from the street. There is no conditi on that 
social care and support needs have to be addressed 
fi rst, with the aspirati on that housing stability allows 
these issues to be managed aft erwards. We have 
expanded our provision of Housing First throughout 
2019 with 15 fl ats now being used, supported either 
by our in-house provider Castell Care and Support or 
others such as Llamau. Our Housing First schemes 
along with a range of other projects for homeless 
people are really good examples of partnership and 
how our housing and care and support teams have 
worked together and with other providers, fi rstly to 
give people a home and then to provide the support 
they need to sustain it.
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Effi  cient and aff ordable for all

Being effi  cient is part of our three-pronged approach 
to Value for Money (VFM), which focuses on:

- effi  ciency,

- resident sati sfacti on, and

- social value.

Our approach to VFM has been to improve both 
operati onal and fi nancial effi  ciency. The approach 
has focused on service delivery, procurement and 
fi nance (treasury and tax effi  ciency), with the 
emphasis on achieving value rather than just saving 
money.

In achieving effi  ciency in service delivery, we do not 
set targets or seek to make arbitrary percentage 
cost reducti ons. Instead, we concentrate on only 
doing what matt ers to customers by understanding 
common demands and designing systems to 
meet those demands, whilst closely monitoring 
performance trends over ti me.

This is assessed by using leading measures within 
each system. For example, our “fi x my home” 
system concentrates on ensuring that problems are 
fi xed quickly, on the fi rst visit where possible, and 
that the repairs are done properly, reducing waste 
by the operati ve not having to go to a property a 
second ti me. This will then ulti mately feed through 
to lower costs and greater effi  ciency in our lagging 
measures, of which fi nancial effi  ciency measures 
are a part.

Our procurement approach to VFM has focused 
on in-sourcing work, on ensuring that the right 
standardised, good-quality materials are procured 
and used across all of our stock to minimise future 
maintenance and that staff  are regularly trained on 
making good purchasing decisions.

Our fi nance approach to VFM focuses on tax effi  ciency 
and treasury. Tax effi  ciency includes seeking to make 
VAT recoverable where possible and uti lising Gift  
Aid provisions to minimise Corporati on Tax across 
the Group. Treasury effi  ciency is achieved by taking 
advantage of long-term bond faciliti es to give long-
term fi xed rates at a competi ti ve cost, balanced 
by short-term revolving faciliti es that ensure that 
unnecessary carry costs are not incurred.

We assess our effi  ciency using trends over ti me, 
monitoring the impacts of decisions over multi ple 
years to assess performance rather than reacti ng to 
each snapshot in isolati on.

Understanding that residents are sati sfi ed is a good 
check to ensure that effi  ciency is being achieved 
without adversely aff ecti ng services. We constantly 
review the purpose of each of our systems and 
what matt ers to our residents by listening to their 
feedback, the levels of demand which we experience 
and the regular resident sati sfacti on surveys which 
we carry out across each of our systems.

Social value is embedded in what we do and is 
refl ected in our mission statement of making a 
diff erence to people’s lives, homes and communiti es. 
Our approach to VFM is also about ensuring social 
value and making sure that it has equal prominence 
to fi nancial effi  ciency. No decision is taken without 
reference to our mission statement.
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Effi  ciency

Treasury effi  ciency is measured by the rate of interest 
paid on borrowings, which remained extremely low 
again despite the increase during 2019 in the Bank 
of England base rate.

3.49%
Weighted average cost of capital 
(2018: 3.53%)

We monitor our operati ng, management and repair 
costs per unit over ti me, aft er adjusti ng for infl ati on 
based upon the Retail Prices Index (RPI). In 2019, our 
cash operati ng costs per unit were on par with 2018 
despite the pressures of Universal Credit and our 
investment in staff  to design and develop our new 
operati ng system.

£1,436,000 
Savings in 2019 
(2018: £1,448,000)

£1,527,000 
VAT savings since 
incorporati on

£2,683
Real operati ng costs per unit 
before major repairs
(2018: £2,684)

The main reason we were able to hold operati ng costs 
despite the investment we made was a reducti on in 
our reacti ve repair costs per unit, part of our business 
plan strategy to ensure that we undertake the right 
repairs in the right way.

of repairs 

completed fi rst ti me

(2018: 71%) 

73%

£916
Real reacti ve maintenance 
costs per unit (2018: £970)

This was achieved whilst sti ll maintaining a strong 
performance on the average days to complete a 
repair and the number of repairs completed fi rst 
ti me

During 2019
it took on average

8 days
for Cambria

to complete a repair 
from the ti me 
fi rst reported 
(2018: 7 days)
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Resident Sati sfacti on
Resident sati sfacti on is diffi  cult to quanti fy on 
an aggregated basis due to the highly individual 
nature of each resident’s concerns and situati on. 
We focus on addressing resident needs and 
ensuring their sati sfacti on at each point of contact, 
learning lessons from each engagement which we 
carry across to benefi t all of our residents. We 
also invest in addressing the predictable types and 
frequencies of demands so that we are prepared 
to do what really matt ers to our residents.

Our Board monitors resident sati sfacti on in a 
number of key areas across our service delivery, 
striking a balance between scores at the point of 
delivery of specifi c services and periodic overall 
sati sfacti on surveys.

Our focus remains on helping each resident as an 
individual with their own unique situati on, rather 
than trying to drive bett erment of a numerical 
score.

Taking everything into account, how sati sfi ed or dissati sfi ed are your tenants 
and residents with the following?

Very 
sati sfi ed

Fairly 
sati sfi ed

Neither Fairly 
dissati sfi ed

Very 
dissati sfi ed

The service provided by your Associati on 56% 30% 7% 5% 2%

Dealing with repairs and maintenance 65% 18% 9% 4% 4%

The overall quality of your home 54% 34% 6% 4% 2%

Rent providing value for money 56% 32% 8% 3% 1%

Listening to residents' views and acti ng on them 54% 27% 10% 6% 3%

Neighbourhoods as a place to live 50% 30% 8% 8% 4%

Dealing with anti -social behaviour 25% 17% 42% 8% 8%

Your Associati on providing the service you expect 58% 29% 8% 3% 1%

Residents trust of the Associati on 67% 20% 7% 3% 3%

Sati sfacti on scores (out of ten):

9.4
9.6
9.4

6.0

Repairs completed
(2018: 9.3)

Planned 
maintenance
(2018: 9.0)

Service during 
the le�  ngs 
process
(2018: 9.4)

Handling of anti -
social behaviour
(2018: 6.9)
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Social value
Making a Diff erence to lives, homes and communiti es 
is not just about providing a house, but about 
supporti ng and empowering people to do what 
matt ers to them, with the right advice and assistance 
along their own individual journey.

We work hard to invest in our residents’ lives, standing 
beside them to sustain their tenancies and tackle the 
menace of anti -social behaviour where it occurs.

We work across our organisati on and in partnership with 
our supply chain to invest in the communiti es, seeking to 
have a wider impact than being just a landlord.

We do not take decisions without considering the 
impact on residents and communiti es, with our values 
at the core of the process.

Our development and 
maintenance contracts 
generated over

£55 million
for the Welsh 
economy, as 
measured by 
the Welsh 
Government Community 
Benefi t Measurement Tool. 

Helping residents into work

Our Making a Diff erence Futures Grant supports 
residents and helps them to overcome barriers 
that prevent them from employment, training and 
educati on opportuniti es. Grants could cover some of 
the cost of travel or specialist clothing, equipment or 
training.

Cardiff		 resident	 Louise	 Fordham	 received	 a	 grant	
to	buy	equipment	to	set	up	her	chiropody	business.	
We	provided	a	grant	to	buy	her	fi	rst	100	disposable	
single	use	podiatry	packs	to	help	her	on	her	way	with	
her	new	podiatry	business.

Bringing communiti es together

In 2019 we spent £57k  in community grants 
supporti ng 78 projects and initi ati ves to bring 
people together in the community, helping to 
improve resilience and provide bett er access to 
opportuniti es.  This included helping community 
groups, community play and sport initi ati ves, 
educati onal projects, helping people to overcome 
barriers to work, improve health and wellbeing, and 
improve social isolati on. 

We	 provided	 a	 grant	 to	 Newtown	 Men’s	 Shed	 to	
support	 its	 vital	 work	 to	 	 tackle	 exclusion	 among	
men	 and	 women	 by	 promoti	ng	 wellbeing	 and	
woodworking	 acti	viti	es	 at	 Llys	 Glan	 Yr	 Afon,	
Newtown.	 They	 have	 been	working	with	Dementi	a	
Friendly	Newtown	and Men’s Shed	Cymru	 to	create	
volunteering	opportuniti	es	for the	local	community.		
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Working in partnership in our 
communiti es

From improving lives to saving the environment, 
we worked with our supply chain partners to 
support 42 community projects in 2019. We linked 
our contractors with a number of community, 
environmental and educati onal initi ati ves that have 
benefi tt ed from the ti me, labour and materials they 
kindly donated as part of their agreement to work 
with us.  Together we have made a diff erence to 
a range of projects including those that promote 
recycling and improve the environment for our 
residents; give school pupils in our communiti es 
the chance to visit our sites to learn about our 
developments or support work experience and 
apprenti ceships by working on our homes.

Elin Vaughan-Miles, Co-ordinator at Lampeter Family 
Centre	 in	Ceredigion,	which	had	new	fl	ooring	supplied	
and	fi	tt	ed	by	WWH	contractors	Jamson	Estates	Ltd	and	
Polyfl	or	to	help	the	centre	move	to	new	premises.	

Partnering to provide work 
opportuniti es in our communiti es

Through our community benefi ts initi ati ves                         
our contractors have supported a total of 59 weeks 
work experience and 677 apprenti ceship weeks 
working on a number of our development and 
property services contracts.

Third	year	carpentry	student	Matt	hew	trained	as	an	
apprenti	ce	 carpenter,	working	on	our	development	
in	Fishguard,	Pembrokeshire.		
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Associati on turnover 4.2%

 £68 million

Financial performance

£6.4
million (2018)

Associati on free cash infl ow

£7.4
million (2019)

Cash reinvested in our property por� olio was made 
up of component replacements of £7.4 million 
(2018: £8.9 million) together with major repairs of 
£4.1 million (2018: £4.4 million), amounti ng to total 
property reinvestment of £11.5 million (2018: £13.3 
million). This represents investment in our stock to 
ensure quality standards are met in all of our homes. 

Our cash interest cost was £8.5 million compared to 
£7.2 million in 2018, as we increased our borrowings 
to £246.8m from £213.5 million in 2018. We took 
on new long-term fi xed-rate loans of £40 million 
during the year, to fund our increased development 
programme. The fi xed rate low interest rates on 
these loans reduce our long-term annual interest 
cost and provide greater certainty for our future 
business plans. The last few years have seen us 
take advantage of the low long-term interest rates 
available in the market place.

Our average interest rate was 3.49% (2018: 3.53%) 
and our debt comprised 96% (2018: 93%) bearing 
interest at fi xed rates, 1% (2018: 1%) with index-
linked rates and 3% (2018: 6%) with variable 
interest rates. Gearing on a gross-cost basis was 
36% (2018: 32%), which is well within the covenant 
requirements of our bank loans. We comfortably 
met our interest cover covenants. At 31 December 
2019, the Associati on held £24.9 million (2018: £8.2 

Average interest

3.49% 
(2018: 3.53%)

Operati ng surplus

31% 
of turnover
(2018: 32%)

Operati ng surplusThe fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Housing Statement of Recommended 
Practi ce (SORP 2018) and Financial Reporti ng 
Standard 102 (FRS 102). 

Our principal fi nancial metric is the free cash 
generated by the Associati on. In 2019, free cash 
infl ow increased  to £7.4 million from the £6.4 
million generated last year. This is disclosed in the 
statement of cash fl ows as required under the Welsh 
Government accounti ng determinati on.

     

Our turnover increased by 4.2% compared to 2018, 
driven by annual infl ati onary rent increases for 
our regulated and non-regulated stock, and rental 
income from our newly developed properti es.

Our operati ng surplus before non-capitalised major 
repairs increased to £21.3 million (2018: £20.6 
million), which equates to 31% of turnover (2018: 
32%). Deducti ng major repairs gives an operati ng 
surplus of £17.1 million (2018: £16.2 million).

21



Net cash from operati ng 
acti viti es before non-
capitalised major repairs 
to our properti es, which 
refl ects our operati ng 
effi  ciency.

Cash  spent  on 
r e i n v e s t m e n t
in our property 
por� olio (component 
replacements such 
as new kitchens, 
bathrooms, boilers and 
windows, as well as non-
capitalised major repairs 
and cyclical decorati ng).

Cash spent on payments 
of net interest on 
borrowings.

Cash invested in capital 
spending, primarily 
investment in new IT 
systems.

million) in cash and cash equivalents and had in 
place £70.0 million (2018: £84 million) of confi rmed 
bank facility to call upon. 

The Associati on made a surplus before excepti onal 
items of £9.3 million, compared with £8.2 million 
in 2018. The excepti onal cost of £1.7 million, 
which relates to the write off  of regenerati on costs 
incurred in excess of regenerati on grant received at 
a scheme in Merthyr, off set by a write back of rent 
credits on the move to our new operati ng system. 
This total excepti onal cost resulted in a reported 
profi t of £7.6m, compared to a reported loss of £0.3 
million in 2018. The accounts also show the revised 
FRS102 treatment of the SHPS pension, resulti ng 
in additi onal charges of £0.7m to the statement of 
comprehensive income and charges of £3.7m to the 
statement of other comprehensive income. 

During 2019, £49 million (2018: £28 million) was 
spent on developments. This was spent on completi ng 
new homes in the year and starti ng to fund homes 
that will complete in future years. We concluded 
the year with £664 million (2018: £621 million) in 
fi xed assets and £37.5 million (2018: £13.3 million) 
positi ve working capital, against which there are 
£246.8 million (2018: £213.5 million) of borrowings. 
This positi on provides balance sheet capacity for 
further borrowing, which we plan to conti nue to use 
sustainably alongside grant fi nancing to invest in the 
development of new aff ordable homes to meet the 
needs of the residents of tomorrow.
Net cash
Net cash from operati ng acti viti es before non-
capitalised major repairs to our properti es, which 

refl ects our operati ng effi  ciency.

FREE CASH INFLOW

Development spending

£49 million
(2018: £28 million)

The £7.4 million total free cash infl ow for the 
Associati on during 2019 comprises net cash from 
operati ng acti viti es less interest and capital cash 
spending. This is set out below.

£27.8
million 
(2018: £27.6 million)

£11.5
million
(2018: £13.3 million)

£8.3 
million
(2018: £6.9 million)

£0.9 
million
(2018: £1.0 million)

The fi nal movement is between pension 
contributi ons made and pension costs charged 
of £0.3 million
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The Group comprises the parent Associati on and 
four wholly-owned subsidiaries: 

• Cambria (Cambria Maintenance Services 
Limited), 

• Castell Ventures (Castell Ventures Limited), 
• Castell Homes  (Castell Homes Limited),
• Enfys (Enfys Developments Limited). 

Group structure
All of these subsidiaries exist purely to provide 
cost-effi  cient channels to develop new homes and to 
provide services for the residents of the Associati on. 

These subsidiaries do not represent diversifi cati on 
away from traditi onal housing associati on ventures.

Enfys started operati ons in 2013 and manages our 
development programme of new homes,  providing 
a cost-effi  cient way of delivery. 

Having our own development company ensures that 
we build the right homes to the right specifi cati ons 
using the right contractors and materials. We expect 
Enfys to deliver more than two thousand new homes 
over the next fi ve years.

During the year Enfys achieved a turnover of £33.8m 
(2018 - £17.9m) and made a profi t of £0.3m (2018 - 
£0.2m)

£33.8 million
Enfys turnover
(2018: £17.9 million)

Castell Homes manages our development of homes 
for sale, with two homes having been completed for 
sale to date.  

There are a further 3 homes currently on site for 
sale in 2020 and the number of homes for sale will 
be expanded in the future if suitable opportuniti es 
arise. 

During the year Castell Homes achieved a turnover 
of £0.3m (2018 - £0.3m) and made a profi t of £0.03m 
(2018 - loss of £0.03m).

£0.3 million
Castell Homes turnover
(2018: £0.3 million)
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Castell Ventures operates as Castell Care and Support 
and is a registered care provider, providing care at 
one of our Extra Care schemes and support at a 
range of smaller schemes in North and West Wales. 
A number of new schemes were added during the 
year as a result of successful tenders.

It also operates as Castell Catering and Castell 
Cleaning, providing meals and cleaning services for 
residents of our three Extra Care schemes in north 
and mid Wales, with plans to extend this to a further 
new scheme in 2020.

During the year Castell Ventures achieved a turnover 
of £1.7m (2018 - £1.3m) and made a small loss of 
£3k, aft er making a profi t of £48k in 2018.

Cambria has been in operati on since 2011 and 
provides cost eff ecti ve maintenance services in all of 
our properti es across Wales. These services include 
reacti ve maintenance, gas servicing, electrical testi ng 
and kitchen, bathroom and boiler replacements. 
2019 has seen Cambria provide services in West 
Wales for the fi rst ti me and we expect this to grow 
over the coming years. 

More than 99% of all services provided are purely 
for the residents of the Associati on. Keeping the 
majority of our maintenance works with our in-
house company provides a cost-eff ecti ve soluti on 
by ensuring that works are completed to the right 
standard, keeping control over associated materials 
costs and saving contractor profi t margins and 
irrecoverable VAT on labour costs.

During the year Cambria achieved a turnover of 
£12.1m (2018 - £12.1m) and made a profi t of £1.4m 
(2018 - £1.4m)

£12.1 million
Cambria turnover
(2018: £12.1 million)

£1.7 million
Castell Ventures turnover
(2018: £1.3 million)
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Board Members work collaborati vely 
to guide the Group in the achievement 
of the stated aims and objecti ves. This 
includes overseeing fi nances, agreeing 

policies, monitoring performance, making strategic 
decisions and ensuring that all matt ers are 
conducted properly. The Board oversees the boards 
of subsidiary undertakings to consider the strategic 
directi on of the Group and to ensure that the aff airs 
of the Group are conducted properly.

The Board leads a robust, evidence-based 
and outcome-focused self-evaluati on 
process that is corroborated by staff , 
residents and partners. This is part of the 

requirements of the regulati on of the Associati on 
by the Welsh Government, which publishes a set of 
performance standards and guidance to make clear 
its expectati ons of the sector as a whole. The self-
evaluati on process adopted is an integral part of 
our approach to service and business planning. The 
Board have adopted the CHC Code of Governance 
and use the principles to guide their work.

Progress against corporate prioriti es 
is reviewed quarterly by the Board 
following presentati on of a Strategic, 
Operati onal and Financial update which 

also embraces new challenges and opportuniti es. 
A suite of service trend measures are used by the 
Board to understand the operati onal eff ecti veness 
of the business and the quality of service for 
residents. The emphasis is on measuring what 
matt ers most to residents in terms of outcomes, 
along with indicati ons of the type and frequency of 
resident demands, so that the Board and staff  can 
easily see the changing profi le of resident requests.

Following careful considerati on the 
Board agreed that all Non-Executi ve 
Board and Committ ee Members across 
the WWH Group would be remunerated 

(eff ecti ve from 1 November 2019).  In taking this 
decision, the Board considered the views of residents 
and stakeholders as well as the future business 
requirements which included safeguarding the ability 
of the Associati on to conti nue to deliver high quality 
outcomes into the future by helping to retain, recruit 

Governance

The Associati on is registered: 

(i) as a charitable associati on under the 
Cooperati ve and Community Benefi t Societi es 
Act 2014 with Registrati on Number 21114R; and

(ii) as a registered social landlord with the 
Nati onal Assembly for Wales with Registrati on 
Number L032.

12
shareholders

Up to
3 

co-opted

Board of management
The Group is controlled by a Board of up to 15      
Non-Executi ve Members in total:

All Board Members are Non-Executi ve and hold 
one vote each.

The membership of the Board can include up to 
four residents.

Executi ve directors att end meeti ngs to present 
reports but hold no voti ng rights.
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and then hold to account, high calibre Board and 
Committ ee members both now and in the future. 

With support and guidance from an independent 
advisor, the Board approved that the levels of 
payment awarded should be pitched at the median 
level of the appropriate pay range for organisati ons 
of a similar size and complexity, and in line with the 
principle established for setti  ng payment levels for 
staff .  Payment levels will be reviewed every three 
years, or sooner as required, to ensure that the levels 
of payment awarded remain appropriate, fair and in 
line with the governance framework.

Board Members are enti tled to receive properly 
authorised expenses incurred in the course of carrying 
out their duti es. A Board Member acti ng in good faith 
will not be liable to the Associati on for any loss.

The Board meets formally approximately 
every seven weeks, including two days away 
from the offi  ce to consider the strategic 
directi on and prioriti es of the Group. 

Board Members
Board Members are elected to the Board at the 
Annual General Meeti ng. They must either be an 
existi ng Board Member standing for re-electi on or 
be nominated by an existi ng shareholder. 

Shareholders are required to pay a one pound 
subscripti on fee and must not be a minor, an 
employee of the Associati on, or previously expelled 
as a shareholder (unless authorised by a special 
resoluti on at a general meeti ng). Shareholders must 
demonstrate that they can positi vely contribute to 
the future management of the Associati on and are 
obliged to act in the interests of the Associati on, for 
the benefi t of the community.

Potenti al shareholders can obtain more informati on 
by writi ng to the Secretary of the Associati on at the 
address in note 33.

The Board decides the selecti on criteria for shareholders 
wishing to stand for electi on as Board Members.

Requirements
It is required that Board Members and shareholders 
wishing to stand for electi on meet the following criteria:

(a)  they are not disqualifi ed from acti ng as a 
director of a company, as a board member 
of another registered society or as a charity 
trustee for any reason; 

(b) they have not been convicted of an indictable 
off ence which is not, or cannot be spent; 

(c) no compositi on has been made with that 
person's creditors generally in sati sfacti on of 
that person's debts; 

(d) they are not in material or serious breach of 
their tenancy agreement or lease which they 
have failed to recti fy  within a reasonable 
ti meframe and are not in breach of a 
suspended possession order, nor subject to 
any of the following types of court order: anti -
social behaviour order, anti -social behaviour 
injuncti on, demoted tenancy, or closure order; 

(e) no registered medical practi ti oner who is 
treati ng that person has given a writt en opinion 
to the Associati on stati ng that that person has 
become physically or mentally incapable of 
acti ng as a Board Member and may remain so 
for more than three months; 

(f) no court has made an order, by reason of that 
person's mental health, which wholly or partly 
prevents that person from personally exercising 
any powers or rights which that person would 
otherwise have;

(g) they have not absented themselves from three 
consecuti ve meeti ngs of the Board without 
special leave of absence; 

(h) they remain a shareholder or they are an 
employee of any other body whose accounts 
must be consolidated with those of the 
Associati on.
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Co-opted Board Members
The elected Board can appoint up to three co-opted 
Members to the Board should the Board at any ti me 
determine that there is a need for supplementary 
skills. 

Co-opted Members are appointed for a fi nite period 
and have the same voti ng rights as elected Board 
Members, except that they are not enti tled to vote 
on matt ers pertaining to positi ons of offi  ce to the 
Board or issues aff ecti ng shareholders.

The Board also decides the selecti on criteria in 
relati on to individuals to be co-opted as Board 
Members.

Diversity and skills
The Board’s requirements for the skills, qualiti es and 
experience of its Members are that collecti vely they 
must:

Members are elected at the 
Annual General Meeti ng for a 
three-year term 

Board Members may serve 
for a maximum of three 
consecuti ve terms

Year

1
Year

2
Year

3
Year

4
Year

5
Year

6
Year

7

have a balance of appropriate skills 
including – but not limited to – legal, 
business, fi nancial, technical, community 
work, housing sector experience, 
relevant public sector experience, human 
resources and governance;

refl ect the communiti es wherein the 
Associati on operates; and

refl ect the diversity of society in terms 
of a balance of gender, age, and minority 
groups such as BME and disabled.

Term of offi  ce
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Year

7
Year

8
Year

9
Years

10-12

It is required that there be a clear 3 
year gap following the serving of three 
consecuti ve terms before a Member may 
re-join the Board in any capacity

Individually they must also:

be able to give the appropriate amount 
of ti me necessary to be trained, and to 
att end and prepare for meeti ngs;

be able to work within a team and put 
personal considerati ons aside; and

demonstrate empathy with social 
housing.

An extensive appraisal exercise is 
undertaken annually which assesses the 
performance of both individual Board 
Members as well as the performance of 
the Board as a team. The extent to which 
the above requirements are met by 
Board Members and whether there are 
any gaps in terms of skills and experience 
are considered by the Board during their 
away day.

Board Member obligati ons
The collecti ve and personal obligati ons of Board 
Members are to:

understand and uphold the values and 
objecti ves of the Associati on;

monitor, supervise and control the 
Associati on’s aff airs as custodians of its 
mission;

act objecti vely at all ti mes and serve the 
interests of the Associati on before their 
own or the interests of any parti cular 
sector of the community served by the 
Associati on;

use independent judgement on strategy, 
performance and accountability;

ensure that an eff ecti ve contributi on is 
made by preparing for meeti ngs and events, 
att ending regularly and parti cipati ng in 
discussions and decision-making;

act as ambassadors of the Associati on at 
all ti mes;

acknowledge that an objecti ve is to 
be ‘business-like’ without turning the 
Associati on into a business which trades 
purely for profi t;

abide by the Associati on’s rules and code 
of governance; and

handle the appointment and dismissal of 
the Chief Executi ve.
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Board 
of management

Elected
Board Members

Alex was elected to the Board in 2016, and 
has also been a Member in the past. He is 
the pastor of a church in Bridgend, and has 
strong connecti ons across the community and 
local government, having previously worked 
in a local authority benefi ts secti on for over 
ten years. Alex holds a Master of Business 
Administrati on, and has experience serving on 
various boards, as a charity trustee and as a 
school governor.

Alex Ashton
Chair of the Board

Board att endance Board att endance

John was co-opted to the Board in 2014 
and elected in 2015. He also holds board 
roles at the UK Collaborati ve Centre for 
Housing Evidence and the Northern Ireland 
Federati on  of  Housing  Associati ons. 
John was previously Chief Executi ve of the 
Northern Ireland Housing Executi ve and 
he is an Honorary Professor of Planning at 
Queens’ University, Belfast. 

John McPeake
Vice Chair of the Board and 
Chair of Probity & Audit Committ ee

Kathy was elected to the Board in June 2017, 
and has also been a Member in the past. 
Kathy has been involved with the Associati on 
since her co-opti on in 2003 and subsequent 
fi rst electi on in 2004.  She is very much 
involved in charity work and has an MSc in 
Entrepreneurship and Business.

Kathy Smart 

Board att endance

Heather was elected to the Board in 2016. 
She is a reti red scheme manager with over 
12 years' experience covering rented and 
leasehold developments, and has been a 
member of the Resident Parti cipati on Group 
for more than three years. Heather is acti vely 
involved in a wide range of housing matt ers 
and became a Board Member of TPAS 
Cymru in 2017.  Heather is a resident of the 
Associati on in Cardiff .

Heather Christan

Board att endance

Rachel was elected to the Board in 2012, 
aft er being involved with Wales & West 
Housing for over fi ve years, initi ally as an 
independent member of the Probity & Audit 
Committ ee. She has run her own security 
business since 2001 and has a degree in 
marine biology. Rachel previously taught 
biology and science to secondary school 
students.

Rachel Fleri
Chair of the Cambria Board

Board att endance

Ruth was co-opted to the Board in 2015 
and elected in 2016. Ruth has a social care 
background, with over 40 years experience in 
local government, the NHS and the Department 
of Health. She is a Trustee of Together in 
Dementi a Everyday (TIDE) and a Director of the 
Life Story Network and of her own consultancy 
company, with recent work focusing on people 
with dementi a and family carers. 

Ruth Eley

Board att endance

Jemma was co-opted to the Board in 2014 
and elected in 2015. She is Policy & Research 
Manager at Keep Wales Tidy, specialising in 
environmental sustainability and behaviour 
change. Jemma previously worked at CREW 
Regenerati on Wales and Valleys Regional 
Park, and was a trustee with her local 
Women’s Aid Group and Refuge. Jemma is a 
resident of the Associati on in Brecon.

Jemma Bere

Board att endance

Sarah joined the Probity & Audit Committ ee in 
2014 and was elected to the Board in 2015. She 
is an experienced liti gati on solicitor, specialising 
in property liti gati on and tenancy disputes. In 
additi on Sarah is an accredited mental health 
lawyer representi ng clients at tribunal hearings 
to contest their detenti on under secti on, 
and representi ng clients within the Court of 
Protecti on. Sarah has also recently qualifi ed as 
an accredited mediator.  

Sarah Porter

Board att endance

Sharon was elected to the Board in 2011. She 
has worked in housing since 1995, working at 
a senior level for housing and homelessness 
organisati ons in England and Wales.  Sharon 
is  the  Chief Executi ve of Aelwyd Housing 
Associati on. She lives in Bridgend where she 
is also a trustee of a community charity.

Sharon Lee

Board att endance
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Board Members fi lling a casual vacancy

Co-opted Board Members

Mr O Constanti ne
(resigned 13 June 2019)

Mr M Glinwood
(resigned 13 June 2019)

Resignati ons 

Board diversity

Disability

Race

Gender

Kevin was co-opted to the Board in 2016 and 
elected in 2017. Kevin is a qualifi ed accountant 
with over 40 years' extensive experience. Since 
reti ring in 2014 he has been acti ve in housing, 
volunteering with a Cardigan-based charity and 
social enterprise. He  lives  in  Pembrokeshire  
and conti nues to learn Welsh.

Kevin Taylor 

Board att endance

Age

36%
male 64%

female

Ivor was co-opted to the Board in 2019.  Aft er 
a full career in the RAF he worked for the MOD 
as an Instructi onal Offi  cer.  He has extensive 
experience in volunteering, was a member of 
South Glamorgan Probati on Committ ee and a 
member of South Wales Police Authority. Ivor 
also spent ti me as a member of the 
Independent Monitoring Board of Parc Prison, 
Bridgend, and is a member of the governing 
body of two Cardiff  schools.  He lives in Cardiff . 

Ivor Gi� ens

Board att endance

Peter fi lled a casual vacancy on the Board 
in 2019. He was a manager in housing, 
specialising in supported housing, regional 
management and policy development and a 
Welsh Government civil servant. He has run 
his own business and is currently a director 
of the Cadenza Partnership. He has extensive 
experience in the third sector, is Chair of Cardiff  
Pedal Power and Treasurer of Llantarnam 
Grange Arts Centre. He has a Masters in Public 
Administrati on.

Peter Harding

Board att endance

30-44
Over

65
45-65

21%
disabled

7%
BAME

79%
able-bodied

93%
White

Joy fi lled a casual vacancy on the Board in 2018. 
She was previously a primary school teacher 
before working in a social services employability 
project. She has also run her own businesses. 
She has worked in the homelessness sector 
across Wales since 2012. Her areas of 
experti se include homelessness policy and 
legislati on, and public sector commissioning. 
Joy is currently chair of Caer Las; a South Wales 
charity enabling social inclusion for those most 
socially excluded.

Joy Williams

Board att endance

Christi ne was co-opted to the Board in 2019. 
A qualifi ed accountant for 40 years, Christi ne 
spent her career in local government with 
responsibility for the whole range of support 
services for the largest council in Wales. She 
has extensive experience in corporate fi nance, 
strategic management, policy development 
and fi nancial planning. Since reti ring in 2019 
Christi ne has become involved in volunteering 
with both vulnerable children and adults and is 
a dementi a friend. She lives in Cardiff . 

Christi ne Salter

Board att endance
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forecasts are prepared which allow the 
Board to monitor the key business risks 
and objecti ves and progress towards 
fi nancial plans set for the year and  the 
medium term; 

regular management accounts are 
prepared promptly, providing relevant, 
reliable and up-to-date fi nancial and 
other informati on and signifi cant 
variances from forecasts are investi gated 
as appropriate;

all signifi cant new initi ati ves, major 
commitments and investment projects 
are subject to a formal authorisati on 
procedure, through relevant committ ees 
comprising Board Members and others;

the Probity & Audit Committ ee reviews 
reports from management, the Internal 
Audit Manager and from the external 
auditors to provide reasonable assurance 
that control procedures are in place 
and are being followed (the Committ ee 
makes regular reports to the Board); and

formal procedures have been established 
for insti tuti ng appropriate acti on to 
correct weaknesses identi fi ed from the 
above reports.

Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for 
ensuring that the Associati on and the Group have 
in place systems of controls that are appropriate 
to the various business environments in which 
they operate. These controls are designed to give 
reasonable assurance with respect to:

   
It is the Board’s responsibility to establish and 
maintain systems of internal fi nancial control. 
Such systems can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material fi nancial mis-
statement or loss. Key elements include ensuring 
that:

   

The Board is sati sfi ed that the Associati on and 
the Group has adequate resources to conti nue in 
operati onal existence for the foreseeable future and 
at present sees no reason for the situati on to change. 

The Board is also sati sfi ed that there are no weaknesses 
in the Associati on’s system of internal control which 
might lead to material losses, conti ngencies or 
uncertainti es which require disclosure in the fi nancial 
statements or the auditor’s report on the fi nancial 
statements.

£

the reliability of fi nancial informati on 
used within the Associati on and Group 
or for publicati on;

the maintenance of proper accounti ng 
records; and

the safeguarding of assets against 
unauthorised use or dispositi on.

formal policies and procedures are in 
place, including the documentati on 
of key systems and rules relati ng to 
the delegati on of authoriti es, which 
allow the monitoring of controls and 
restrict the unauthorised use of the  
Associati on’s assets;

experienced and suitably qualifi ed staff  
take responsibility for important business 
functi ons (annual procedures have been 
established to maintain standards of 
performance, as well as self-certi fi cati on 
of risk control in all areas);

the Board undertakes a quarterly review 
of the major risks facing the Associati on
and the Group;

turnoverturnover
££
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The Board is committ ed to the management of risk 
in order to achieve the vision and goals of the Group, 
and to remain a viable and sustainable business. Risk 
management is an important part of any successful 
organisati on and its applicati on can help ensure 
eff ecti ve business and project planning so that 
resources and att enti on are appropriately directed. 

The Welsh Government, as regulator 
of the housing associati on sector, has 
increased its focus on the management 
of risk, expecti ng housing associati ons 

and parti cularly their Boards to fully understand the 
business and fi nancial risk environment in which 
they operate and to be confi dent that these risks are 
eff ecti vely managed.

In general, the Group operates in a low-risk 
environment, with most of the events or occurrences 
that could adversely aff ect the business taking 
considerable ti me to impact. Any such events would 
be identi fi ed through day-to-day management 
before signifi cant harm occurs. Accordingly, the 
regular review of risks focuses on those events 
which are more immediate or where their impact 
is very signifi cant, as well as taking account of the 
Welsh Government’s assessment of sector-wide 
risks. In this way the assessment has concentrated 
on learning from across the sector and from the 
Group's own experience.

The risk register is reviewed in detail 
by the Board, assigning inherent and 
residual risk levels based on esti mated 
likelihood, severity and miti gati on of 
each potenti al consequence associated 

with identi fi ed risks. Those risks rated medium 
or above are regularly reviewed by the Board to 
ensure controls and miti gati on remain suffi  cient 
and appropriate. The full compositi on of the enti re 

Risk

risk register is reviewed quarterly by the Board. 
Any new risks identi fi ed from regulatory guidance 
or signifi cant changes to the sector or operati ng 
environment are discussed by the Board when raised 
and added immediately where it is felt appropriate 
to do so.

The risk register is visible on our intranet 
allowing Board Members and all staff  
to understand at any moment the 
risks the Group faces and how these 

are being managed. This allows regular updati ng 
as circumstances develop and new risks appear 
or existi ng ones are removed, resulti ng in a living, 
rolling assessment rather than a periodic review.

The approach to risk is contained in our 
risk management policy. This policy helps 
ensure that the Group takes a balanced 
and proporti onate approach to risk 

management that eff ecti vely responds to genuine 
risks which could have a signifi cant impact without 
sti fl ing innovati on or creati ng an unnecessary 
administrati ve burden. 

The Probity & Audit Committ ee 
is responsible for monitoring the 
eff ecti veness of the risk management 
policy and reports its fi ndings to the 

Board. To assist the Committ ee in this role, the   
Internal Audit Manager undertakes periodic audits 
of the risk management approach. These audits 
assess the eff ecti veness of governance, known risk 
management and the identi fi cati on of new risk 
factors.

Overleaf are the signifi cant risks faced by the Group, 
together with a summary of the miti gati ng measures 
in place.
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Direct payment of benefi ts to residents may increase rent 
arrears

Failure to respond appropriately to an emergency alarm 
acti vati on

Signifi cant risk Inherent
risk

We have also assessed a number of other risks, including regulati on that prevents or restricts the 
current operati ng model, staff  health and safety, harm/abuse of a resident and the installati on of our 
new operati ng system. 

Loss of some or all of the main computer systems

Restricti on to rent (through WG rent policy) to less than 
anti cipated in the business plan

Failure to maintain excepti onally high levels of compliance 
for areas that could have immediate and serious impact

Insuffi  cient funds to meet commitments and any breach of 
covenants  

Loss or inadvertent sharing of data in breach of GDPR 

Restricti on to current development arrangements due to 
change of WG policy 

Restricti on to services due to pandemic such as Covid-19

Poor governance undermines eff ecti veness or confi dence in 
the management of the business

Major fraud may result in signifi cant loss

Disproporti onate costs increases relati ve to rents 

£

£

£

£
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Our recently installed new operati ng system allows us to closely monitor payment plans, meaning 
that we get to residents quickly to minimise diffi  culti es and to provide support. We have access to the 
DWP portal and can apply for Alternati ve Payment Arrangements.

We have a sophisti cated alarm system, where calls are regularly reviewed by managers. There are 
regular data recovery tests, backed up by an off -site recovery provider. There are detailed policies and 
procedures and the service has an annual audit by the TSA.

Our network infrastructure is protected by fi rewalls and anti -malware soft ware, with all data backed 
up regularly. We run regular cyber-att ack exercises and simulated off -site disaster recovery exercises, 
as well as larger business conti nuity exercises on a periodic basis. 

WG have announced a rent policy to 2024 but there are electi ons during that period which could see 
a change of policy. Our fi nancial forecasts take account of the expected rent policy and a range of 
sensiti viti es and stress tests are run on diff erent scenarios.

We have a full assurance framework for each area of compliance together with three levels of control. 
In each area, we have trained and qualifi ed staff  operati ng to these frameworks. We carry out annual 
fi re risk assessments, regularly test for key hazards such as legionella and asbestos and carry out 
routi ne checks of CP12 gas certi fi cates and electrical safety certi fi cates.

We have a clear treasury strategy and have strong relati onships with a range of lenders. There is 
detailed quarterly performance monitoring with a focus on free cash fl ow and liquidity, with additi onal 
liquidity reporti ng at each Board meeti ng. Covenants are reviewed quarterly.

We have detailed policies and procedures in place and a dedicated Data Protecti on Offi  cer in post. 
Staff  are trained both at inducti on and on an on-going basis. Informati on sharing protocols are in 
place with external agencies and there are internal ICT controls to limit data sharing

We have a strong relati onship with WG and parti cipate on relevant working groups with WG and 
CHC. We are a major housing provider in Wales, where it would be disadvantageous to the supply of 
housing if WG were to restrict our ability to develop. 

We can adjust services to provide emergency repairs, conti nue gas servicing, conti nue to provide care 
and support services and can carry out all essenti al safety checks, as well as basic cleaning. All other 
staff  can work remotely, ensuring business as usual.

We have a diverse Board which draws upon a wide range of skills. Our governance rules are robust 
and are in accordance with the Community Housing Cymru (CHC) Code of Governance. We have a 
rigorous self-assessment process in place to validate that the Board has access to the right informati on 
at the right ti me.

We have layered controls over both our ICT access systems and the third-party banking systems used 
to transfer monies. All operati ng limits are set within our fi nancial regulati ons and our systems are 
designed to give early warnings of unusual transacti ons.

Costs are ti ghtly controlled, with salary increases requiring Board approval. The majority of maintenance 
work is undertaken by Cambria. We have long-term partnering arrangements to build new homes. All 
property re-investment requires an annual approval and levels of work can be adjusted if unit costs 
increase. The vast majority of our debt is at fi xed interest rates.

Controls and miti gati on Residual
risk

We consider that all of these other risks have suffi  cient control and miti gati on that none gives rise to 
more than a low residual risk.
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Anne joined the Group in 1999 and became Group Chief Executive in 2006. She 
has extensive experience in the housing association, voluntary and local authority 
sectors in Wales, after starting as a rent collector in 1985 in Cardiff. Anne has a BA 
in History & Politics, an MA in Education, and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute 
of Housing.

Anne Hinchey Group Chief Executive

Executive team

Shayne joined the Group in 2006 and became Group Deputy Chief Executive in 
2012. He has more than 30 years of experience in housing and regeneration. 
Shayne spent seven years in the private sector before working for a local authority 
and then for the Audit Commission.

Steve Porter Executive Director (Assets)

Shayne Hembrow Group Deputy Chief Executive

Stuart Epps Executive Director (Resources)

Alex Stephenson Executive Director (Technology & Transformation)

Steve joined the Group in 2008 and became Executive Director (Assets)in 2012. He 
has over 20 years of experience working in the housing sector in Wales. Steve has 
a degree in surveying and a professional qualification in construction.

Stuart joined the Group in 2011 and became Executive Director (Resources) at the 
start of 2016. He has nearly 20 years of experience as a senior finance professional 
in property development, consultancy in the built environment and construction 
in Wales. Stuart is qualified as a Chartered Accountant.

Alex has more than 15 years’ experience in housing. Having joined the Group in 
the finance department in 2004 as a qualified accountant, he went on to become 
the Head of Property Services and Director of Corporate Services before becoming 
Executive Director (Technology and Transformation) at the beginning of 2020. 
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Probity & Audit Commi� ee

Compositi on

Independent members have all the rights 
and responsibiliti es of the Board members who 
sit on the Committ ee, but cannot be members 
of any other committ ees or the Board of the 
Associati on.

The Committ ee meets three ti mes 
annually, this number being deemed 
appropriate to its role and responsibiliti es.

Responsibiliti es

To ensure that the Associati on operates to the 
highest level of accountability;

To ensure that weaknesses in probity 
and standards are dealt with quickly and 
effi  ciently; 

and

To oversee the internal and external audit 
functi ons and ensure that adequate systems 
of internal check and control are being 
implemented.

Up to 5 
Board Members

Up to 3 
independent members

Board Members

John McPeake
Chair of Probity & Audit Committ ee

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Heather Christan

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Kevin Taylor

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Ruth Eley

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Independent Members

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Lisa Lake

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 

Darren Pritchard

Julie Wilson-Thomas

Peter Harding

Probity & Audit Committ ee att endance 
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Internal audit

The internal audit service is provided by an in-
house Internal Audit Manager, who is a member 
of the Institute of the Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales and who has many years 
of audit experience, both internal and external. 
Internal audit has unrestricted rights to access 
all documents, records and information, and no 
limitations are placed on the scope of work.

Throughout the year, internal audit work has been 
undertaken in accordance with a rolling risk-based 
needs assessment and forward programme of work 
for the Association.

Changes to the needs assessment and forward 
programme of work are proposed in consultation 
with the Senior Management Team before being 
approved by the Committee. This process helps 
ensure that the extent of internal audit work 
carried out remains appropriate to the needs of the 
Association. It also enables members to become 
more involved in the audit planning process and 
fulfil their responsibilities with regard to approving 
the internal audit plan.

At each committee meeting held during the year, 
reports were received summarising the findings of 
routine internal audit work completed since the 
previous meeting as shown in the diagram opposite.
In cases where weaknesses or other issues 
requiring attention have been identified, action 
plans are agreed with management and presented 
to the Committee for approval, after which the 
Committee receives regular updates on the status 
of agreed internal audit action plans.

Together with assessment of the control 
environment, internal audit work during the year 
encompassed a range of financial and operational 
thematic reviews in accordance with the programme 
of work determined by the Committee as detailed 
opposite.

The Committee confirmed that management had 
taken appropriate steps to address weaknesses 
identified, and concluded that the Association’s 
framework of governance, risk management 
and internal control systems were adequate and 
effective.

External audit

The Committee is currently undertaking a tender 
exercise to appoint a new auditor, as Haines Watts 
have now reached the end of their term and are 
ineligible for reappointment. The appointment of 
a new auditor will be made such that the newly 
appointed firm will be in place to undertake the 
audit of the 2020 statutory accounts.

Probity

The Committee reviews internal audit reports on 
governance arrangements within the programme 
of internal audit work. This includes periodic 
assessment of compliance with the Community 
Housing Cymru (CHC) Code of Governance.

The Committee reviews the audit plan from the 
external auditor each year and considers its scope 
and sufficiency. The Committee reviews reports 
from the external auditor following each significant 
element of audit work and meets at least once 
annually with the external auditor without any 
executive directors or management present. The 
Committee has assessed the external auditor and 
considers them to be independent.

The Committee also reviews the Association’s 
code of conduct and policies on confidentiality, 
hospitality and whistleblowing and agree that they 
remain fit for purpose and in line with best practice.

37



Review of thematic internal 
audit reports:

GDPR
Governance

Health and Safety

Review of thematic internal 
audit reports:
Electrical Safety

Fire Safety

Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard

Welsh Government  returns

Service Provision in Extra Care 
schemes

Health and Safety follow-up 
report

Review of thematic internal 
audit reports:

Development of new rents 
system

Interim payment plans and 
arrears monitoring tools

GDPR follow-up

Procurement

Review of management 
information, performance 
monitoring and payments 
to Cambria Maintenance 
Services 2019

Internal control general 
heatlh check exercise

Pre-Board review of 2018 
annual report and financial 
statements
Review of Annual Statement 
of Compliance

Review of scope of Board 
governance review

Developing the Board 
Assurance framework

Interim external audit 
results

Approval of external audit 
plan

Presentation and 
management letter

Annual Probity & Audit 
Committee report to the 
Board

Review of Board 
requirements to make 
regulatory returns to Welsh 
Government

Private meeting with 
internal auditor

Forward programme of 
internal audit work

Annual summary of 
activities and internal audit 
opinion

Forward programme of 
internal audit work

Forward programme of 
internal audit work

Private meeting with 
external auditor

April 2019 October 2019 January 2020

External audit did not note any material weaknesses 
in the accounting and internal control systems 
during their audit.

The Committee feels that the Association has in 
place a system of controls that is appropriate to the 
various business environments in which it operates, 
and that no significant weaknesses in these systems 
have been identified.

Effectiveness of internal control

The Committee concluded that the Association’s 
framework of governance, risk management 
and internal control systems were adequate and 
effective.

The Committee has reviewed its work for 2019 and 
considers that it is compliant with both its terms of 
reference and the relevant provisions of the CHC 
Code of Governance.
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The Board is responsible for preparing the fi nancial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounti ng 
Practi ce.

The Co-operati ve and Community Benefi t Societi es 
Act 2014 and Registered Social Landlord legislati on 
requires the Board to prepare fi nancial statements 
for each fi nancial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of aff airs of the Associati on and the 
Group and of the surplus or defi cit of the Associati on 
and the Group for that period.

In preparing those fi nancial statements, the Board 
is required to select suitable accounti ng policies, as 
described on pages 48 to 51, and then apply them on 
a consistent basis, making judgements and esti mates 
that are prudent and reasonable. The Board must 
also prepare the fi nancial statements on the going 

Statement of Board responsibiliti es
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Associati on and the Group will conti nue in 
business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper 
accounti ng records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any ti me the fi nancial positi on of the 
Associati on and the Group and to enable them to 
ensure that the fi nancial statements comply with 
the relevant legislati on.

The Board is also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Associati on and the Group, and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the preventi on and 
detecti on of fraud and other irregulariti es.

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and the 
integrity of the corporate and fi nancial informati on 
included on the Associati on’s website. Legislati on in 
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This year the WWH Board has chosen 
to	support	Manumit	Coff	ee,	a	Cardiff	-

based	social	enterprise	supporti	ng	
victi	ms	of	human	traffi		cking	and	

modern-day slavery. 

the United Kingdom governing the preparati on and 
disseminati on of fi nancial statements may diff er 
from legislati on in other jurisdicti ons.

Covid-19 has had a signifi cant impact on the acti viti es 
of the Group, as it has on society as a whole. The 
Board has met regularly during the period and has 
received detailed fortnightly updates from the IMT 
(Incidence Management Team), which initi ally met 
daily and currently meets three ti mes a week. These 
updates have focused both on service delivery, 
operati onal performance and fi nancial risk. The 
Group moved quickly to suspend letti  ngs, suspend  
grounds maintenance, suspend all but essenti al 
scheme cleaning and safety checks and to an 
essenti al repairs service only (including annual gas 
servicing). These measures were taken in order to 
protect both our staff  and our residents by limiti ng 
our potenti al to transmit the virus through contact 
that was not essenti al in its nature.  Other measures 
to protect our staff  included the provision of PPE 
(Personal Protecti ve Equipment). The Group had a 
thoroughly tested business conti nuity plan which 
was enacted and which has allowed the vast majority 

of staff  to conduct their work from home. The Board 
has provided leadership and oversight during this 
period, and for our staff  and our residents, as much 
as possible it is business as usual, just undertaken in 
a diff erent way.

In so far as the Board is aware:

• there is no relevant audit informati on of which 
the Associati on’s and the Group’s auditors are 
unaware; and

• the Board has taken all steps that they ought to 
have taken to make itself aware of any relevant 
audit informati on and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that informati on.

By order of the Board

Mr Alex Ashton
Chair of the Board
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We have audited the fi nancial statements of Wales 
& West Housing (the ‘Associati on’) for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Positi on, 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Reserves and notes to 
the fi nancial statements, including a summary of 
signifi cant accounti ng policies. The fi nancial reporti ng 
framework that has been applied in their preparati on 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounti ng 
Standards, including Financial Reporti ng Standard 
102 "the Financial Reporti ng Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland" (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounti ng Practi ce).

In our opinion the fi nancial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and of the Associati on’s aff airs as at 31 December 
2019 and of its income and expenditure for the 
year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounti ng 
Practi ce; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Co-operati ve and Community 
Benefi t Societi es (Group Accounts) Regulati ons 
1969, schedule 1 to the Housing act 1996 and 
The Accounti ng requirements for Registered 
Social Landlords General Determinati on (Wales) 
2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Internati onal Standards on Auditi ng (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibiliti es 
under those standards are further described in 

Auditor’s report

the Auditor’s responsibiliti es for the audit of the 
fi nancial statements secti on of our report. We are 
independent of the Associati on in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the fi nancial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfi lled our 
other ethical responsibiliti es in accordance with these 
requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is suffi  cient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relati ng to going 
concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matt ers in relati on to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounti ng in the preparati on of the fi nancial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Board has not disclosed in the fi nancial 
statements any identi fi ed material uncertainti es 
that may cast signifi cant doubt about the Group or 
Associati on’s ability to conti nue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounti ng for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the fi nancial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other informati on

The Board is responsible for the other informati on. 
The other informati on comprises the informati on 
included in the annual report, other than the fi nancial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover 
the other informati on and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Year ended 31 December 2019
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In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on the matters prescribed 
under Housing for Wales Circular 
HFW 02/10 “Internal controls and 
reporting”

In our opinion, with respect to the Board’s statement 
on internal financial control:

• the Board has provided the disclosures required by 
the Circular and the statement is not inconsistent 
with the information of which we are aware from 
our audit work on the financial statements.

The impact of uncertainties on our 
audit owing to COVID -19

The Boards' view on the impact of COVID-19 
is disclosed within the Statement of Board 
Responsibilities and principal accounting policies 
note 1.

Uncertainties related to the effects of COVID-19 
are relevant to understanding our audit of the 
financial statements.  All audits assess and 
challenge the reasonableness of estimates made 
by the Board, such as recoverability and valuation 
of assets, appropriateness of the going concern 
basis of preparation of the financial statements 
and associated disclosures.  All of these depend on 
assessments of the future economic environment and 
the company's future prospects and performance.

The COVID-19 viral pandemic is one of the most 
significant economic events for the UK, and at 
the date of this report, its effects are subject to 
unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, 
with the full range of possible effects unknown.  We 
have applied a standardised approach in response 
to that uncertainty when assessing the company's 
future prospects and performance.  However, no 
audit should be expected to predict the unknowable 
factors or all possible future implications for a 
company and this is particularly the case in relation 
to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• the Group and Association has not kept proper 
books of account, and not maintained a satisfactory 
system of control over its transactions, in accordance 
with the requirements of the legislation; or
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Association’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board.

• the revenue account, any other accounts to which 
our report relates, and the balance sheet are not 
in agreement with the Group and Association’s 
books of account; or

• we have not obtained all the information and 
explanations necessary for the purposes of our 
audit.

Responsibilities of the Board

As explained more fully in the Board’s responsibilities 
statement set out on pages 39-40, the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the Board determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is 
responsible for assessing the Group and Association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Board either intends to liquidate the Group and 
Association or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounti ng 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditi ons that may cast signifi cant 
doubt on the Group or Associati on’s ability to 
conti nue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw att enti on in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the fi nancial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditi ons may cause the Group or Associati on 
to cease to conti nue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentati on, structure 
and content of the fi nancial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
fi nancial statements represent the underlying 
transacti ons and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentati on.

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matt ers, the 
planned scope and ti ming of the audit and signifi cant 
audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies 
in internal control that we identi fy during our audit.

Auditor’s responsibiliti es in respect 
of the Housing for Wales Circular 
HFW 02/10 “Internal controls and 
reporti ng”

We review whether the Board’s statement on 
internal fi nancial control refl ects the Associati on’s 
compliance with the Housing for Wales Circular 
HFW 02/10 “Internal controls and reporti ng” and 

we report whether the statement is not inconsistent 
with the informati on of which we are aware from 
our audit of the fi nancial statements. We are not 
required to form an opinion on the eff ecti veness of 
the Associati on’s corporate governance procedures 
or its internal fi nancial control.

Use of report

This report is made solely to the Associati on’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Co-operati ve and Community 
Benefi t Societi es (Group Accounts) Regulati ons 
1969, schedule 1 to the Housing Act 1996 and The 
Accounti ng requirements for Registered Social 
Landlords General Determinati on (Wales) 2015. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Associati on’s members those matt ers 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitt ed by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Associati on 
and the Associati on’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Haines Watt s Wales LLP
Statutory Auditor 
7 Neptune Court
Vanguard Way
Cardiff  CF24 5PJ

Date: 15 May 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2019

All of the above results are derived from conti nuing operati ons.

Total reserves are solely comprised of the comprehensive income reserve for both the Associati on 
and the Group.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Positi on
at 31 December 2019

The fi nancial statements on pages 45 to 78 were approved by the Board on 14 May 2020 and were signed on 
its behalf by: 

Chair of the Board  - Mr A Ashton                    Vice Chair of the Board - Mr J McPeake               Secretary - Mr S Epps
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the fi nancial statements

Basis of preparati on

The Associati on is incorporated under the Co-
operati ve and Community Benefi t Societi es Act 2014 
(registrati on number: 21114R) and is a registered 
social landlord (Nati onal Assembly for Wales 
registrati on number: L032). The Associati on is a 
public benefi t enti ty and adopted charitable rules 
with eff ect from 20 January 2005.

The Associati on’s wholly-owned subsidiaries are 
incorporated as limited liability companies under the 
Companies Act 2006. These are listed below under 
“basis of consolidati on” and in note 30.

Basis of consolidati on

The consolidated accounts include the results of 
Wales & West Housing Associati on Limited (the 
“Associati on”) and its trading subsidiary undertakings: 
Cambria Maintenance Services Limited (“Cambria”), 
Enfys Developments Limited (“Enfys”), Castell 
Ventures Limited (“Castell Ventures”) and Castell 
Homes Limited (“Castell Homes”). Consolidated 
accounts are required under the Co-operati ve and 
Community Benefi t Societi es Act 2014. Wales & West 
Housing Associati on Limited is the parent enti ty and 
the ulti mate parent enti ty. 

Basis of accounti ng

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable fi nancial reporti ng 
standards in the United Kingdom, including the 
Statement of Recommended Practi ce for “Accounti ng 
by Registered Social Housing Providers” as updated 
in 2018 ("SORP 2018"). Where any confl ict arises 
between the SORP 2018 and applicable fi nancial 
reporti ng standards, then the SORP prevails. The 
fi nancial statements comply with the Accounti ng 
Requirements for Social Landlords Registered in 
Wales – General Determinati on 2015.

The fi nancial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis of accounti ng.

Housing properti es – fi xed asset capitalisati on and 
depreciati on (notes 5, 12 and 23)

Housing properti es are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciati on. The cost of properti es is 
their purchase price together with incidental costs 
of acquisiti on and direct costs of the development 
process. Where properti es come into the ownership 
of the Associati on under secti on 106 agreements, 
these are oft en purchased for less than cost price. 
Where this is the case, such properti es are recognised 
at their true cost price, with imputed cost being 
the diff erence between this and the amount paid 
and shown within property acquisiti ons, with the 
corresponding liability shown as imputed grant.

"Housing properti es in the course of constructi on" 
are stated at cost and are transferred into "social 
housing properti es" when completed. Any overhead 
costs directly att ributable to bringing fi xed assets 
into working conditi on for their intended purpose 
are capitalised. Expenditure on the initi al purchase of 
land and buildings is capitalised and disclosed as part 
of housing properti es in the course of constructi on.

Depreciati on is charged on the historic cost of 
property components. Grant is allocated to land and 
the main structure of the property, but not to other 
components. Freehold land is not depreciated. 
Leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining 
term of the leases. The depreciable amount is 
writt en off  over the esti mated useful lives from the 
date of purchase or constructi on handover. Housing 
properti es in the course of constructi on are not 
depreciated.

1 Principal accounti ng policies
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Profits or losses on disposals of properties are 
recognised as at the date a sale becomes certain. The 
profit or loss arising on a disposal of a property is the 
difference between the sale price and the aggregate 
of the depreciated cost, and any associated costs of 
disposal such as legal and valuation fees. The grant 
originally received on a property is repayable in full 
in the case of a disposal, demolition or change of use 
to an ineligible activity, save that in circumstances 
where the Welsh Government considers appropriate 
it may reduce the amount repayable. Where this 
arises on a disposal, the grant repayable so waived 
is added back to the profit or loss on that disposal.

Some properties have been partially sold under 
shared ownership arrangements. Occupiers have full 
use of the properties concerned and pay a rent which 
reflects the proportional interest retained by the 
Association. In the balance sheet, the Association’s 
interest is shown as a proportion of the original 
historic cost, corresponding to the interest retained. 
Occupiers are able to purchase some or all of that 
retained interest at a corresponding proportion 
of the current market value when that transaction 
arises.

Where a housing property comprises two or more 
major components with substantially different 
useful economic lives, each component is accounted 
for separately and depreciated over its individual 
useful economic life. Expenditure relating to the 
subsequent replacement or renewal of components 
is capitalised as incurred. Deprecation is charged on 
cost on a straight line basis over the component’s 
expected economic useful life as follows:
 

Main structure   years
Houses      150
Flats     100

Other components   years
Back doors    40
Bathrooms    30
Heating systems   15
Electrics    60
Front doors    30
Kitchens: general needs  17
Kitchens: retirement housing  20
Roofs     80
Windows: installed pre-2000   20
Windows: installed post-2000  40

Components on leasehold land are depreciated over 
the shorter of the above and the remaining period 
of the lease.  Where a grant is received against the 
cost of a component, the cost of the component 
is reduced by the net present value of the future 
grant and that net present value figure is shown as a 
debtor in the accounts.

Impairment

Housing properties are reviewed annually for 
impairment. Where there is evidence of impairment, 
housing properties are written down to their 
recoverable amount.

Other fixed assets (note 13)

Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis so as to write off the cost 
less estimated residual value of assets over their 
expected useful economic lives as follows:

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Asset class       years
Motor vehicles      2 to 4
Office equipment – Solar PV panels    25
Office equipment – other     3 to 10
Site equipment – lifts      10 to 25
Site equipment – door entry systems   10 to 15
Site equipment – other     3 to 10
Commercial and office buildings    up to 60

Loans and bonds (notes 19 and 20)

Loan arrangement fees are capitalised and then 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the duration 
of the loan. Interest is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income on an accruals basis, 
including that related to index linked-loans where 
the cash settlement may be deferred.

Where there is a difference between the coupon rate 
of bonds issued to investors and the effective rate of 
such issuances, this balance is held as a bond market 
premium or discount on the balance sheet and spread 
over the term of the corresponding bonds.

Grants (note 21)

Grants received from central government agencies 
and local authorities are shown within creditors 
on the face of the balance sheet. Grants relating 
to assets are recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. 
Government grants received for housing properties 
are recognised in income over the expected useful 
life of the housing property structure.

Where grants are received in advance they are 
carried forward as current liabilities to be matched 
against future capital expenditure as it is incurred. 
Grants receivable in respect of completed schemes 
or those under construction are included within 
debtors in the financial statements.

Grants are repayable under certain circumstances, 
primarily following the sale of a property. Such 
repayable grants are included within creditors in the 
balance sheet.

Pension costs (notes 28 and 29)

The Group makes payments to defined benefit and 
defined contribution pension schemes on behalf 
of its employees. The schemes are funded by 
contributions partly from the employees and partly 
from the Group, at rates determined by independent 
actuaries. The assets of the defined benefit schemes 
are invested separately from the assets of the Group 
in independently administered multi-employer funds.
 
 The pensions cost for the TPT Retirement Solutions 
Growth Plan have been calculated as if they arose 
within defined contribution schemes, as permitted 
by Financial Reporting Standard 17 (Retirement 
Benefits), as it is not possible to separately identify 
the scheme assets attributable to the Group on a 
consistent and reasonable basis.

The Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) defined 
benefit pension scheme is accounted for under 
FRS102 to show the Group’s share of the estimated 
pension fund net liability on the Statement of Financial 
Position. Employer contributions for future service 
liability are shown in the statement of comprehensive 
income, along with all employer contributions to 
defined contribution schemes.

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
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Value added tax (VAT)

The Association, Cambria and Castell Ventures form 
a single VAT group which is partially exempt for VAT 
purposes. Claims are made for repayment of VAT on 
items that are specifically allowable. Expenditure is 
shown inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

Enfys and Castell Homes are each separately 
registered for VAT purposes. As these entities can 
recover VAT, if incurred, expenditure is shown 
exclusive of VAT.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. After initial recognition, 
financial assets and liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost. A financial assets is de-recognised 
when the contractual rights expire. A financial 
liability is de-recognised when the contractual 
obligation is extinguished. 

COVID-19

The financial statements have been prepared on 
agoing concern basis. The Board have reviewed 
and considered relevant information, including 
the forecasts and future cash flows in making 
their assessment. In particular, in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the Board have tested their 
cash flow analysis to take into account the impact 
on their business of possible scenarios brought on 
by the impact of COVID-19, alongside the measures 
that they can take to mitigate the impact. Based on 
these assessments, given the measures that could 
be undertaken to mitigate the current adverse 
conditions, and the current resources available, 
the Board have concluded that they can continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
annual report and accounts.

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
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2 Analysis of turnover and costs 
 
 
 

Turnover represents rental and service charge income (both net of empty properties), Gift Aid, fees 
and revenue-based grants receivable. All turnover is derived from operations within the United 
Kingdom. 
 

(a) Particulars of turnover, operating costs and operating surplus 
 

ASSOCIATION

Turnover
Operating 

costs
Operating 

surplus Turnover
Operating 

costs
Operating 

surplus
2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Social housing lettings 64,177 (48,633) 15,544 61,560 (46,745) 14,815  -          

Other social housing activities
Gift Aid 1,772   -  1,772 1,625   -  1,625  -    -  
Non-social housing activities   -    -  
Lettings 100 (88) 12 78 (86) (8)
Other 1,661 (1,847) (186) 1,718 (1,945) (227)
Total 67,710 (50,568) 17,142 64,981 (48,776) 16,205

The above analysis represents the results of the Association, which is the only Registered Social 
Landlord in the Group. Its subsidiaries contributed as follows to the operating surplus: Cambria 
£1,431,000 (2018: £1,442,000), Enfys £335,000 (2018: £177,000), Castell Ventures £5,000 (2018: loss 
of £9,000) and Castell Homes £47,000 (2018: £52,000). After deducting Gift Aid, which is eliminated 
on consolidation, this takes the Association reported operating surplus of £17,142,000 (2018: 
£16,205,000) to the Group reported operating surplus of £17,188,000 (2018: £16,242,000).   
 
A detailed analysis of the social housing turnover and related operating costs is provided in note 2(b). 
Management of operations represents the costs of the Association’s “How we run” system for running 
the core operations of the organisation. Tenancy management services represents the costs of the 
Association’s “I want a home” system for administering lettings, the “Pay my rent” system for 
collection of rental receipts and the “ASB” system for dealing with anti-social behaviour issues. The 
Association’s other key system is “Fix my home” for administering repairs to properties, the costs of 
which are split between routine maintenance, major repairs expenditure and management of 
component replacement in the following analysis. Development and other costs include development 
overheads which are not directly attributable to bringing fixed assets into their working condition for 
their intended purpose. Central overheads are allocated based upon the utilisation of key personnel 
within each area. 
 
A reconciliation from the management accounts is shown in note 2(c).  
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2 Analysis of turnover and costs (continued) 
 
 

(b) Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings 
 

ASSOCIATION
General 

needs and 
sheltered 

housing
Supported 

housing
Other social 

housing
2019    
total

2018    
total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income
Rent receivable 53,868 1,170 67 55,105 52,766
Service charge income 5,948   -    -  5,948 5,663
Grant income for support services   -  273   -  273 345
Amortisation of social housing and 
other government grants 2,851   -    -  2,851 2,786
Turnover from social housing 
lettings 62,667 1,443 67 64,177 61,560
Operating costs
Management of operations (5,397) (72) (13) (5,482) (4,612)
Tenancy management services (5,193) (69) (12) (5,274) (4,973)
Service charges (6,388)   -    -  (6,388) (6,297)
Routine maintenance (11,537) (154)   -  (11,691) (11,709)
Major repairs expenditure (5,367) (72)   -  (5,439) (5,630)
Management of component 
replacement (1,531) (20) (4) (1,555) (1,407)
Bad debts (707) (9) (2) (718) (770)
Depreciation of housing properties (10,074) (135) (24) (10,233) (9,994)
Development and other costs (1,825) (24) (4) (1,853) (1,353)        
Operating costs on social housing 
lettings (48,019) (555) (59) (48,633) (46,745)
Operating surplus on social housing 
lettings 14,648 888 8 15,544 14,815

Memorandum information:
Rent foregone due to properties 
being vacant 466 8 19 493 625

 
 
The costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred on the basis of work done at the balance 
sheet date. 
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2 Analysis of turnover and costs (continued) 
 

(c) Analysis of income and expenditure 
 

ASSOCIATION
2018 

management 
accounts

2019 
management 

accounts

Subsidiary 
donations 
to parent

Analysis of non-
social housing 

activities

Allocation 
of central 

costs
2019    
total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Income
Rent receivable 52,647 54,968   -  137   -  55,105
Service charge income 6,751 7,064   -  (1,116)   -  5,948
Supporting people income 345 273   -    -    -  273
Sundry income 539 503   -  (503)   -    -  
Amortisation   -    -    -    -  2,851 2,851
Gift Aid   -    -  1,772   -    -  1,772
Non-social housing lettings   -    -    -  100   -  100
Non-social housing other 
activities   -    -    -  1,661   -  1,661
Turnover 60,282 62,808 1,772 279 2,851 67,710

Operating costs
Management of operations   -    -    -    -  (5,482) (5,482)
Tenancy management 
services   -    -    -    -  (5,275) (5,275)
Service charge cash costs (5,254) (5,357)   -  865 (1,477) (5,969)
Service charge depreciation (469) (431)   -  13   -  (418)
Routine maintenance (10,132) (9,920) (1,042)   -  (731) (11,693)
Major repairs and cyclical 
maintenance (4,349) (4,122) (395)   -  (922) (5,439)
Management of component 
replacement   -    -    -    -  (1,555) (1,555)
Bad debts (770) (718)   -    -    -  (718)
Depreciation of housing 
properties (9,994) (10,232)   -    -    -  (10,232)
Development and other 
costs   -    -  (335)   -  (1,519) (1,854)
Staff costs (excl. site staff) (10,778) (12,111)   -    -  12,111   -  
Overheads (4,198) (4,779)   -    -  4,779   -  
Other depreciation (919) (847)   -    -  847   -  
Amortisation 2,786 2,851   -    -  (2,851)   -  
Non-social housing lettings   -    -    -    -  (88) (88)
Non-social housing other 
activities   -    -    -  (1,157) (688) (1,845)
Operating costs (44,077) (45,666) (1,772) (279) (2,851) (50,568)
Operating surplus 16,205 17,142   -    -    -  17,142
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3 Directors and employees 
 
 

(a) Directors’ emoluments 
 
The remuneration paid to the directors (defined as Board Members and the executive officers) of the 
Group and Association was: 
 

GROUP & ASSOCIATION
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
Aggregate emoluments of executive officers, excluding pension contributions 545 467 
Aggregate emoluments of Board Members 12   -  
Emoluments of highest paid director (Chief Executive), excluding pension 
contributions 164 143 
Pension contributions in respect of executive officers 33 69 

 
Retirement benefits are accruing under defined benefit schemes (note 28). The Chief Executive received 
payment in lieu of pension contributions of £36,747 (2018: £0). The Association makes no 
contributions to any individual pension arrangement. Payment of Board Members began on 1 
November 2019. 
 
The full time equivalent number of key management personnel (including the Chief Executive) whose 
remuneration (excluding pension contributions) payable during the period fell within the following bands 
was: 
 

GROUP & ASSOCIATION
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
£0 – £9,999 14   -  
£90,000 – £99,999   -  1 
£100,000 – £109,999   -  1 
£110,000 – £119,999 1   -  
£120,000 – £129,999 1 1 
£140,000 – £149,999 1 1 
£160,000 – £169,999 1   -  

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Expenses reimbursed to directors not chargeable to UK taxation 11 11 
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3 Directors and employees (continued) 
 
 

(b) Employee information  
 
The average number of staff (including executive officers) employed during the year was: 

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2019 2018 2019 2018
Staff Staff Staff Staff

Actual 667 637 411 404 
Full time equivalent 589 565 363 354 

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Staff costs
Wages and salaries 17,189 16,737 11,401 11,377 
Social security costs 1,564 1,462 1,074 1,003 
Pension costs 2,408 1,082 2,224 941 
Total staff costs 21,161 19,281 14,699 13,321 

 
 
The 2019 pension costs are split as follows: 

GROUP ASSOCIATION
£’000 £’000

Defined benefit scheme contributions 1,546 1,546 
Actuarial movement 327 327 
Current Service cost 1,873 1,873 
Expenses paid 43 43 
Defined contribution scheme contribution 492 308 
Pension costs 2,408 2,224 
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4 Operating surplus 
 

 

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Profit for the year from continuing activities is 
stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of housing properties 10,233 9,994 10,233 9,994
Depreciation of other fixed assets 1,290 1,420 1,279 1,387
Amortisation (2,851) (2,786) (2,851) (2,786)
Bad debts 718 770 718 770
Auditors' remuneration:
  – In their capacity as auditors 45 42 26 27
  – In respect of other services 4 4 4 4
Operating lease rentals:
  – Land and buildings 26 23   -  3
  – Other assets 53 10 53 10

 
5 Surplus on sale of housing fixed assets 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Sales proceeds:
 – LCHO properties 1,451 1,079
 – Other housing properties 1,318 599
Cost of sales:
 – LCHO property cost (note 14) (1,224) (1,034)
 – LCHO property grant (note 22)   -  78
 – Housing property cost (note 12) (319) (122)
 – Housing property depreciation (note 12) 83 48
 – Housing property grant amortisation (note 21) (40) (48)
 – HomeBuy cost (note 14) (252) (197)
 – Recycled capital grant additions (note 20) (602) (715)
 – Cost of sales from Current Assets (352)   -  
 – Grant written back 612 715
Sundry (costs)/income (35) (6)
Surplus on sale of fixed assets 640 397
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6       Contingent liabilities 
 

 
The Association amortises government grants over the useful lives of the properties, as required by 
SORP 2018. Although the Association has no current plans to sell its housing land and buildings, if it were 
to do so then government grants may become repayable. The total contingent liability as at 31 December 
2019 is £66,701,000 (2018: £64,246,000). This represents the aggregate amortised amount of social 
housing and other government grants of £66,768,000 (2018: £64,309,000) excluding amortisation of 
non-repayable grants of £67,000 (2018: £63,000). 
 
The Association is a participating employer member within the TPT Retirement Solutions Growth Plan. 
This is a multi-employer pension scheme, which is in most respects a money purchase arrangement 
but also has some guarantees. Employees of the Association have participated in the Growth Plan 
primarily through the use of additional voluntary contributions (AVCs). In accordance with the 
Occupational Pension Schemes (Employer Debt on Withdrawal) Regulations 2005, a potential debt 
can arise due from employers that participate in the Growth Plan. The debt would only crystallise in 
the event that the Association were to cease to participate in the scheme or in the event that the 
scheme were to wind up at a time when it were not fully funded on a buy-out basis. The Association 
has been notified by TPT Retirement Solutions that the estimated employer debt on withdrawal from 
the plan would be £429,000, based on the financial position of the plan as at 30 September 2017. A 
provision in respect of the present value of projected future deficit contributions has been recognised 
in the amount of £0.2 million (2018: £0.2 million). 
 
 
7 Interest receivable 
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest receivable from investments 197 147 192 144
Intra-group interest receivable   -    -  22 32
Total interest receivable 197 147 214 176

 

 
8 Interest payable  
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

On bank loans and overdrafts and other loans:
   Repayable wholly or partly in more than five years 8,566 8,196
   Imputed interest from effective interest rate calculation   -  25
   Interest payable to sinking funds   -  1
   Finance charge in respect of the pension deficit 413   -  
Total interest payable 8,979 8,222
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9 Exceptional items  
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Increase in pension provision following triennial valuation   -  (4,379)
Breakage costs from the repayment of housing loans   -  (3,497)
Loss on properties held for sale   -  (600)
Movement in land value   -  (184)
Release of lease provision   -  136
Write back of historic rent credits 604   -  
Regeneration costs (note 12) (4,876)   -  
Regeneration grant received (note 21) 2,612   -  
Total exceptional items (1,660) (8,524)

 
10 Corporation Tax 
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax
UK Corporation Tax at 19% (2018: 19%) 8 19 8 19
Current taxation charge 8 19 8 19
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences   -    -    -    -  
Tax on ordinary activities 8 19 8 19

 

The Association adopted charitable rules with effect from 20 January 2005. No Corporation Tax is 
expected to arise after that date on activities directly related to the charitable objectives and activities 
of the Association. Taxation is payable firstly on feed-in tariff income received in respect of solar 
panels installed on the roofs of a number of the Association’s properties and secondly on renewable 
heat initiative income earned from heat pumps installed at some of the Association’s properties. 
 

The remaining members of the Group are subject to Corporation Tax at the prevailing rate of taxation. 
Any current taxable profits of subsidiary undertakings have been reduced to £nil by remittance of the 
entire profits to the Association, benefitting from Gift Aid relief. Deferred tax liabilities are provided 
for in full as they arise. 
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11 Units in management 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

Opening 
units at                                

1 Jan 2019 New build 
Purchase 

of units 

Units sold 
or held     
for sale Transfers

    
units at               
31 Dec 

2019
General needs and retirement 10,216 101 5 (22) 15 10,315
Extra Care 169   -    -    -    -  169
Scheme managers 5   -    -    -  (2) 3
Intermediate rented 192 3   -  (2)   -  193
Supported housing 154   -  2 (1) (12) 143
Other social housing 11   -    -    -  (3) 8
Social housing units 10,747 104 7 (25) (2) 10,831
Shared ownership 25   -    -    -    -  25
Managed for private owners 1,158   -  (3) 1 2 1,158
Commercial units 4   -    -    -    -  4
Non social-housing units 1,187   -  (3) 1 2 1,187
Total units owned and managed 11,934 104 4 (24)   -  12,018

Available social housing included 109 units vacant as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 107 units). 
 

The Association also has an interest in 67 (2018: 43) LCHO units and 202 (2018: 209) HomeBuy units. 
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12 Tangible fixed assets – housing land and buildings 
 

 

Social 
Housing 

Properties
Shared 

ownership

 Market 
Rented 

Properties

Properties 
in the 

course of Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 658,149 635 901 45,068 704,753
Property acquisitions 791   -    -  48,226 49,017
Social housing properties completed 13,945   -    -  (13,945)   -  
LCHO units completed (note 14)   -    -    -  (1,224) (1,224)
Imputed costs 2,255   -    -  (48) 2,207
Component additions to existing 
properties 7,452   -  2   -  7,454
Component disposals (3,219)   -  (3)   -  (3,222)
Housing property disposals (note 5) (319)   -    -    -  (319)
Transfer to current assets (878)   -    -    -  (878)
Exceptional costs - regeneration works 
(note 9)   -    -    -  (4,876) (4,876)
Reclassification of properties (note 14) 52   -    -    -  52
At 31 December 2019 678,228 635 900 73,201 752,964

Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 116,893 134 88   -  117,115
Charge for the year 10,219 5 9   -  10,233
Component disposals (3,219)   -  (3)   -  (3,222)
Housing property disposals (note 5) (83)   -    -    -  (83)
Transfer to current assets (263)   -    -    -  (263)
At 31 December 2019 123,547 139 94   -  123,780

Net book value
At 31 December 2019 554,681 496 806 73,201 629,184
At 1 January 2019 541,256 501 813 45,068 587,638

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

729,444 681,257
23,451 23,427

69 69
Total housing land and buildings 752,964 704,753

GROUP

Housing properties comprise:
   Freehold land and buildings
   Long leasehold land and buildings
   Short leasehold land and buildings
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12 Tangible fixed assets – housing land and buildings (continued) 
 

 

Social 
Housing 

Properties
Shared 

ownership

Market 
Rented 

Properties

Properties 
in the 

course of Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 658,149 635 901 44,697 704,382
Property acquisitions 791   -    -  47,662 48,453
Social housing properties completed 13,945   -    -  (13,945)   -  
LCHO units completed (note 14)   -    -    -  (1,224) (1,224)
Imputed costs 2,255   -    -  (48) 2,207
Component additions to existing 
properties 7,452   -  2   -  7,454
Component disposals (3,219)   -  (3)   -  (3,222)
Housing property disposals (note 5) (319)   -    -    -  (319)
Transfer to current assets (878)   -    -    -  (878)
Exceptional costs - regeneration works 
(note 9)   -    -    -  (4,876) (4,876)
Reclassification of properties (note 14) 52   -    -    -  52
At 31 December 2019 678,228 635 900 72,266 752,029

Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 116,893 134 88   -  117,115
Charge for the year 10,219 5 9   -  10,233
Component disposals (3,219)   -  (3)   -  (3,222)
Housing property disposals (note 5) (83)   -    -    -  (83)
Transfer to current assets (263)   -    -    -  (263)
At 31 December 2019 123,547 139 94   -  123,780

Net book value
At 31 December 2019 554,681 496 806 72,266 628,249
At 1 January 2019 541,256 501 813 44,697 587,267

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

728,509 680,886
23,451 23,427

69 69
Total housing land and buildings 752,029 704,382

ASSOCIATION

Housing properties comprise:
   Freehold land and buildings
   Long leasehold land and buildings
   Short leasehold land and buildings

 

 
Works charged to existing properties that have been capitalised are shown above under component 
additions to existing properties. Works charged within the statement of comprehensive income 
account (net of associated staff costs) during 2019 amounted to £4,122,000 (2018: £4,349,000) – see 
note 2c. 
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13 Other tangible fixed assets 
 
 

GROUP

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

Freehold 
commercial 

property

Freehold 
office 

property Total
£’000 £’000 £‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 220 5,280 7,668 1,010 11,579 25,757
Additions   -  550 403   -    -  953
Disposals (12) (4) (56)   -    -  (72)
At 31 December 2019 208 5,826 8,015 1,010 11,579 26,638

Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 199 3,324 4,616 153 856 9,148
Charge for year   -  530 442 21 297 1,290
Eliminated on disposals (10) (4) (42)   -    -  (56)
At 31 December 2019 189 3,850 5,016 174 1,153 10,382

Net book value
At 31 December 2019 19 1,976 2,999 836 10,426 16,256
At 1 January 2019 21 1,956 3,052 857 10,723 16,609

 
 

ASSOCIATION

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

Freehold 
commercial 

property

Freehold 
office 

property Total
£’000 £’000 £‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 61 5,207 7,579 1,010 11,579 25,436
Additions   -  536 403   -    -  939
Disposals   -  (4) (56)   -    -  (60)
At 31 December 2019 61 5,739 7,926 1,010 11,579 26,315

Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 61 3,251 4,563 153 856 8,884
Charge for year   -  529 432 21 297 1,279
Eliminated on disposals   -  (4) (42)   -    -  (46)
At 31 December 2019 61 3,776 4,953 174 1,153 10,117

Net book value
At 31 December 2019   -  1,963 2,973 836 10,426 16,198
At 1 January 2019   -  1,956 3,016 857 10,723 16,552
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14 Fixed asset investments – HomeBuy and LCHO loans receivable 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018

HomeBuy

Low Cost 
Home 

Ownership Total HomeBuy

Low Cost 
Home 

Ownership Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 9,184 1,970 11,154 9,453 1,591 11,044
Imputed costs   -  584 584   -  432 432
Reclassification from social 
housing (note 12) (52) 1,224 1,172 (72) 981 909
Disposals (note 5) (252) (1,224) (1,476) (197) (1,034) (1,231)
At 31 December 8,880 2,554 11,434 9,184 1,970 11,154

HomeBuy loans are for mortgage rescues and equity loans to homeowners who were not otherwise 
able to fully afford their homes using commercially available mortgages under the scheme financed 
by the Welsh Government. The investment grants (note 22) represent the funding received from the 
Welsh Government for the above loans. These loans are stated at cost in accordance with Housing 
SORP 2018.  
 
Low Cost Home Ownership (LCHO) represents the Association’s stake in properties, where less than 
100% ownership of the property was sold, primarily under Section 106 agreements where equity 
loans have been made, under low cost home ownership arrangements, to homeowners who were 
not otherwise able to fully afford their homes using commercially available mortgages. Equity loans 
are included in the balance sheet at historic cost. 
 
The Association is entitled to a proportion of the market value corresponding to the equity interest at 
a time when homeowners either dispose of their HomeBuy or LCHO property or when they choose to 
repurchase some, or all, of the equity loan. 
 
 
15 Fixed asset investments – other investments 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

At 1 January 6,265 2,843
Additions 1,287 3,484
Withdrawals   -  (38)
Change in fair value 100 (24)
At 31 December 7,652 6,265

 
 
The closing balances represent investments to meet interest reserves required by certain long-term 
loans. 
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16 Stock  
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000    

Completed properties   -  213   -    -  
Work in progress 993   -    -    -  
Total stock 993 213   -    -  

 
Completed properties represent properties constructed that are intended for sale.  
 
 
17 Trade and other debtors: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent and service charge debtors 4,995 4,624 4,995 4,624
Bad debt provision for rent and service charges (2,714) (2,434) (2,714) (2,434)
Capital debtors 1,030 2,041 1,030 2,041
Housing Finance Grant debtor 716 615 716 615
Intra-group balances – loans   -    -  2,107 433
Intra-group balances – Gift Aid   -    -  1,772 1,625
Intra-group balances – trading   -    -  359   -  
Loans to employees 37 34 37 34
Properties held for sale 1,601 1,904 1,601 1,904
Other debtors and prepayments 2,310 1,494 1,919 1,269
Total debtors due within one year 7,975 8,278 11,822 10,111

 
 
 
18 Trade and other debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Housing Finance Grant debtor 28,718 24,033 28,718 24,033
Intra-group balances – loans   -    -    -  25
Total debtors due after more than one year 28,718 24,033 28,718 24,058
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19 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 
GROUP ASSOCIATION

2019 2018 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Housing loans (note 20) 103 93 103 93
Land for Housing loans 8,808 8,531 8,808 8,531
Rent and service charges received in advance 1,962 2,314 1,962 2,314
Grants received and receivable in advance 5,246 5,254 5,246 5,254
Imputed grants (note 23) 150 126 150 126
Corporation Tax 8 19 8 19
Taxation and social security 462 444 332 311
Pension provision (note 29) 176 1,705 176 1,705
Sinking fund deferred income 668 755 668 755
Accrued mortgage interest 2,741 2,442 2,741 2,442
Bond market issuance premium 445 291 445 291
Intra-group balances – trading   -    -    -  355
Deferred heat initiative income 22   -  22   -  
Accruals and other deferred income 9,950 7,706 4,590 4,242
Total creditors due within one year 30,741 29,680 25,251 26,438

 
The sinking fund deferred income relates to certain residents that are required to contribute towards 
the costs of maintaining their properties. Monies received in advance of associated maintenance 
expenditure are credited to sinking fund deferred income accounts, to which interest is applied. 
 
The bond market issuance premium relates to the difference between bond coupon rates and the 
effective rate of the bond issuances. This balance is spread over the bond term.  
 
20 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Recycled capital grant fund 3,086 4,079
Housing loans 246,739 213,378
Investment grants (note 22) 11,228 10,948
Imputed grants (note 23) 21,446 19,413
Bond market issuance premium 10,703 6,872
Other creditors 1,088   -  
Deferred heat initiative income 523   -  
Pension provision (note 29) 170 12,314
Total creditors due after more than one year 294,983 267,004

 

Housing loans are shown net of capitalised loan fees of £3,216,000 (2018: £2,679,000). 
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20 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued) 
 

 
Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Association's housing properties. Rates of 
interest during the year ranged from 1.20% to 12.05% (2018: 1.24% to 12.05%). The weighted average 
rate of interest for 2019 was 3.49% (2018: 3.53%). At 31 December 2019, 96% (2018: 93%) of loans 
bore interest at fixed rates, 3% (2018: 6%) at variable rates and 1% (2018: 1%) at index-linked rates. 
 
The loans are repayable as follows: 

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Amounts falling due:
Within one year or less 103 93

Between one and two years 114 103
Between two and five years 1,486 386
In five years or more 245,139 212,889

In more than one year 246,739 213,378
Total housing loans 246,841 213,471

GROUP & ASSOCIATION
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
Repayable otherwise than by instalments in more than five years 230,000 196,000
Repayable by instalments wholly or partly in more than five years 15,139 16,889
Total repayable in more than five years 245,139 212,889

GROUP & ASSOCIATION

 
Housing loans are shown net of capitalised loan fees of £3,216,000 (2018: £2,679,000).  
 
The movement on the recycled capital grant fund was as shown below: 

GROUP & ASSOCIATION
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
At 1 January (4,079) (3,364)
Additions during the year (note 5) (602) (715)
Deductions during the year 1,595   -  
At 31 December (3,086) (4,079)
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21 Social housing and other government grants 
 

 

Social 
housing 

properties
Shared 

ownership

Properties in 
the course of 
construction Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Gross grant creditor
At 1 January 2019 335,262 392 31,426 367,080
Transfer from HomeBuy (note 22) 52   -    -  52
Property acquisitions   -    -  25,356 25,356
Schemes completed 6,895   -  (6,895)   -  
Transfer to current assets (576)   -    -  (576)
Exceptional costs - regeneration works (note 9)   -    -  (2,612) (2,612)
Housing property disposals (147)   -    -  (147)
At 31 December 2019 341,486 392 47,275 389,153

Amortisation
At 1 January 2019 64,201 108   -  64,309
Credit for the year 2,699 2   -  2,701
Transfer to current assets (202)   -    -  (202)
Housing property disposals (40)   -    -  (40)
At 31 December 2019 66,658 110   -  66,768

Net grant creditor
At 31 December 2019 274,828 282 47,275 322,385
At 1 January 2019 271,061 284 31,426 302,771

GROUP & ASSOCIATION

 
Included within social housing properties grants are £1,257,000 (2018: £1,257,000) of non-repayable 
grants that are being amortised over the life of the relevant assets. 
 
The grants are amortised as follows: 

GROUP & ASSOCIATION
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
Within one year or less 2,701 2,660

Between one and two years 2,701 2,660
Between two and five years 8,103 7,980
In five years or more 308,880 289,471

In more than one year 319,684 300,111
Total grant creditor 322,385 302,771
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22 Investment grants 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018

HomeBuy

Low Cost 
Home 

Ownership Total HomeBuy

Low Cost 
Home 

Ownership Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 9,042 1,906 10,948 9,311 1,502 10,813
Imputed costs   -  584 584   -  432 432
Transfer (to)/from Social 
Housing (note 21) (52)   -  (52) (72) 50 (22)
Disposals (252)   -  (252) (197) (78) (275)
At 31 December 8,738 2,490 11,228 9,042 1,906 10,948

The investment grant is funding received from the Welsh Government to fully fund the HomeBuy 
scheme, the assets of which are shown as a fixed asset investment (note 14). All amounts are due in 
more than one year. 
 
 
23 Imputed grants 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

Social housing properties
2019 2018

£’000 £’000
Gross grant creditor
At 1 January 19,853 8,905
Property acquisitions 2,207 10,948
At 31 December 22,060 19,853

Amortisation
At 1 January 314 188
Credit for the year 150 126
At 31 December 464 314

Net grant creditor
At 31 December 21,596 19,539
At 1 January 19,539 8,717
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23 Imputed grants (continued) 
 
 

The grants are amortised as follows: 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Within one year or less 150 126
Between one and two years 150 126
Between two and five years 450 378
In five years or more 20,846 18,909

In more than one year 21,446 19,413
Total grant creditor 21,596 19,539

 
 
 

24 Provisions for liabilities  
 
 

Provisions are recognised where uncertainty exists in relation to the timing or amount that may be 
required to settle potential liabilities. Any amounts provided are charged to the income and 
expenditure account and credited to the balance sheet based upon the Group’s best estimate of 
potential liabilities. 

GROUP
Deferred

Insurance taxation Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2019 60 10 70
Utilised during the year   -    -    -  
Released during the year (16)   -  (16)
Additions during the year 22   -  22
At 31 December 2019 66 10 76

ASSOCIATION

Insurance Total
£’000 £’000

At 1 January 2019 60 60
Utilised during the year   -    -  
Released during the year (16) (16)
Additions during the year 22 22
At 31 December 2019 66 66

Insurance provisions relate to excess levels on known insurable claims yet to be settled. Contractual 
obligations represented a provision on certain property leases and supplier contracts which have now 
been settled. Deferred taxation arises in Cambria, a wholly-owned subsidiary, and relates to the 
timing of tax payments due. 
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25  Called-up share capital 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£ £

Allotted, issued and fully paid
At 1 January 112 112
Issued during the year 4 2
Shares cancelled during the year (26) (2)
At 31 December 90 112

Shareholders have no entitlement to dividends or return of monies in respect of shares surrendered or 
a share in the assets in the event of the Association being wound up. No shareholder may hold more 
than one share and each share carries only one vote. 
 
26 Capital commitments 
 

 
GROUP & ASSOCIATION

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

51,517 41,937

Capital expenditure that has been authorised by  
the Board but has not yet been contracted for 51,340 35,547

Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not been 
provided for in the financial statements

At 31 December 2019, the Association intended to fund this expenditure from a combination of free 
cash generation, social housing grants and loan drawdown from loan facilities already in place. 
 
 

27 Operating leases 
 
 

At 31 December, the Group had total commitments under operating leases as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Land and 
buildings

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

Land and 
buildings

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leases expiring:
   Within one year   -    -    -    -  4   -  
   Between two and five years 28 25 13 54 30   -  
   Between six and ten years   -    -  263   -    -    -  
Total operating lease commitments 28 25 276 54 34   -  

GROUP
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27 Operating leases (continued) 
 

2019 2018
Land and 
buildings

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

Land and 
buildings

Office 
equipment

Site 
equipment

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leases expiring:
   Within one year   -    -    -    -  4   -  
   Between two and five years   -  25 13 30   -  
   Between six and ten years   -    -  263   -    -    -  
Total operating lease commitments   -  25 276   -  34   -  

ASSOCIATION

 
Costs in respect of operating leases are amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
 

28 Pension schemes 
 
 
 

The Association participates in two defined benefit pension schemes, the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS) and The Growth Plan, both of which are multi-employer, final salary, schemes. The 
Growth Plan is closed to new members. Within SHPS, the Association has an open Career average 
revalued earnings (CARE) scheme with a 1/80th accrual rate. The Final salary scheme with a 1/60th 
accrual rate closed to new members on 31 March 2011 and the CARE scheme with a 1/60th scheme 
closed to new members on 30 June 2019. The Association makes contributions of 9.85% in the SHPS 
schemes. 

The Associations’ share of assets and liabilities in respect of the Social Housing Pension Scheme are 
assessed by the scheme actuary as at each reporting date, based upon key assumptions including 
discount rates, mortality rates, inflation, future salary costs and future pension costs. Changes in the 
Association’s net asset or net liability in respect of its obligations to scheme members pass through 
Other Comprehensive Income and have an impact on the Group’s financial reserves.  

It is not possible for the Association to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for Growth 
Plan as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution 
scheme. The Association’s current liability in respect of the Growth Plan is £205k (see note 29). 

Both schemes are subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came 
into force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and 
Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for 
funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK. 

The schemes are classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore the company is potentially 
liable for other participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share 
of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally 
required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from 
the scheme. The current estimated liability if this was to happen is £61.2 Million based on the latest 
actuarial valuation dated 30 September 2017. 
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28 Pension schemes (continued) 
 

 

The Group also participates in the Social Housing Defined Contribution Scheme, making employee 
contributions up to a maximum of 9.85% of salary, paying £492k into the scheme during the year (see 
note 3b). 
 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
£'000 £'000

Fair value of plan assets                     55,908                     47,556 
Present value of defined benefit obligation                     70,918                     62,750 
Net defined benefit asset (liability) to be recognised                   (15,010)                   (15,194)

SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME

Present values of defined benefit obligation, fair value of assets and defined benefit asset 
(liability)

 
 
 
Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the defined benefit obligation

Period ended
31 December 2019

£'000
Defined benefit obligation at start of period 62,750
Current service cost 1,873
Expenses 43
Interest expense 1,786
Contributions by plan participants 10
Actuarial losses (gains) due to scheme experience (1,795)
Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in demographic assumptions 192
Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in financial assumptions 7,562
Benefits paid and expenses (1,503)
Defined benefit obligation at end of period 70,918
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28 Pension schemes (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of plan assets

Period ended
31 December 2019

£'000
Fair value of plan assets at start of period                     47,556 
Interest income                       1,373 

                      5,316 

Employer contributions made (note 3b)                       1,546 
Past defict contributions                       1,567 
Expenses                            43 
Total contributions by the employer                       3,156 
Contributions by plan participants                            10 
Benefits paid and expenses                     (1,503)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period                     55,908 

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income) - 
gain (loss)

 
The actual return on the plan assets (including any changes in share of assets) over the period ended 31 
December 2019 was £6,689,000.  
 

Period from
1 January 2019 to

31 December 2019
£'000

Employer contributions made (note 3b)                       1,546 
Acturial movements                          327 

                      1,873 
                           43 
                         413 

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income                       2,329 

Expenses
Net interest expense

Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current service cost
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28 Pension schemes (continued) 
 

Period ended
31 December 2019

£'000

                      5,316 

                      1,795 

                       (192)

                    (7,562)

                       (643)

                       (643)

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) - 
gain (loss)

Defined benefit costs recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities - gain (loss)
Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation - gain (loss)
Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation - gain (loss)
Total actuarial gains and losses (before restriction due to some of the surplus 
not being recognisable) - gain (loss)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income - gain (loss)

 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
£'000 £'000

Global Equity                     11,255                       7,359 
Absolute Return                       2,673                       4,395 
Distressed Opportunities                       1,080                          943 
Credit Relative Value                       1,459                          941 
Alternative Risk Premia                       3,703                       2,376 
Fund of Hedge Funds                            50                          839 
Emerging Markets Debt                       2,071                       1,652 
Risk Sharing                       1,833                       1,601 
Insurance-Linked Securities                       1,558                       1,559 
Property                       1,241                       2,075 
Infrastructure                       3,947                       2,121 
Private Debt                       1,108                          630 
Opportunistic Illiquid Credit                       1,016                              - 
Corporate Bond Fund                       2,708                       2,309 
Liquid Credit                              -                              - 
Long Lease Property                       1,091                              - 
Secured Income                       1,829                       1,852 
Over 15 Year Gilts                              -                              - 
Liability Driven Investment                     16,991                     16,762 
Net Current Assets                          295                          142 
Total assets                     55,908                     47,556 

Assets

 
None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer’s own 
financial instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer. 
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28 Pension schemes (continued) 
 

 
Key Assumptions 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
% per annum % per annum

Discount Rate 2.09% 2.84%
Inflation (RPI) 3.01% 3.25%
Inflation (CPI) 2.01% 2.25%
Salary Growth 2.20% 2.50%
Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at 
retirement

 75% of maximum 
allowance 

 75% of maximum 
allowance 

 
The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 December 2019 imply the following life expectancies: 

Life expectancy at 
age 65 (Years)

Male retiring in 2019 21.8
Female retiring in 2019 23.5
Male retiring in 2039 23.2
Female retiring in 2039 24.7

 
 

29 Pensions movements 
 

SHPS SHPS
Cardiff & 

Vale Total
DB AVC LPGS

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balance at 1 January 2019 12,177 229 1,613 14,019
Exit payment during the year   -  (1,300) (1,300)
Opening balance adjustment 3,017   -    -  3,017

Sub Total 15,194 229 313 15,736

Other comprehensive income movement 643   -    -  643
Comprehensive income 2,329   -    -  2,329
Financing costs pension deficit   -  11 (172) (161)
Employer contributions (3,156) (35)   -  (3,191)

Total 15,010 205 141 15,356
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30 Subsidiary undertakings 
 

 
The Association has four directly-owned subsidiary undertakings: 
 

Undertaking Percentage owned Registration number 
Cambria Maintenance Services Limited 100 7389484 
Enfys Developments Limited 100 8292315 
Castell Ventures Limited 100 8292028  
Castell Homes Limited 100 11149375 

 

During the year, Cambria generated turnover of £12,080,000 (2018: £12,053,000), of which 
£12,034,000 (2018: £11,969,000) was billed to the Association in respect of reactive and planned 
maintenance services and component replacements. At the year-end £38,000 (2018: £28,000) was 
outstanding. The Association has made a loan of to provide working capital, of which £58,000 (2018: 
£58,000) was outstanding at the year end, together with £1,437,000 (2018: £1,448,000) due to the 
Association in respect of Gift Aid. 
 
During the year, Enfys generated turnover of £33,867,000 (2018: £17,898,000), of which £32,874,000 
(2018: £17,898,000) was billed to the Association and £992,700 was billed to Castell Homes (2018: 
nil) in respect of construction management services carried out under design and build contracts.  At 
the year-end £281,000 (2018: £482,000) was outstanding. The Association was due £335,000 (2018: 
£177,000) in respect of Gift Aid at the year end. 
 
During the year, Castell Ventures generated turnover of £1,729,000 (2018: £1,335,000), of which 
£501,000 (2018: £548,000) was billed to the Association in respect of catering services, £130,000 
(2018: £101,000) for cleaning services and £89,000 (2018: £86,000) for supporting people services. At 
the year end, £34,000 (2018: £50,000) was outstanding. The Association was not due any monies in 
respect of Gift Aid at the year-end (2018: £nil). The Association has made a loan of £150,000 for 
working capital for care and support activities (2018: £150,000).  
 
During the year, Castell Homes generated turnover of £265,000 (2018: £278,000) from the sale of 
residential homes, all of which was billed to external parties. The Association had a loan balance due 
of £699,000 (2018: £250,000) at year end, which was made to enable Castell Homes to purchase and 
develop homes for sale. 
 
31 Related party transactions 
 

 
The following members of the Board who served during the year were also residents of the 
Association during the year: 
 

Ms J Bere  Elected 19 April 2014 
Mr O Constantine  Resigned 13 June 2019 
Ms H Christan  Elected 26 May 2016 

 

The above members were on standard Association resident agreement terms and were forbidden 
from using their position on the Board to their personal advantage. 
 
Two Members also held positions on the Board of Slocombe Cottages for the Aged and Infirm, which 
is a Registered Charity. During the year Slocombe made an annual rent subsidy to the Association of 
£21,419 (2018: £20,358). 
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32 Movement in net debt 
 

 

At 31 
December 

2018 Cashflow
Issue 

movements
Non cash 

movement Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash 12,539 19,627   -    -  32,166
Loans due in less than one year 93 (1)   -  11 103
Loans due in greater than one year 213,378 36,390 (3,018) (11) 246,739
Land for housing loans 8,531 277   -    -  8,808

  -  
Total 234,541 56,293 (3,018)   -  287,816

At 31 
December 

2018 Cashflow
Issue 

movements
Non cash 

movement Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash 8,208 16,706   -    -  24,914
Loans due in less than one year 93 (1)   -  11 103
Loans due in greater than one year 213,378 36,390 (3,018) (11) 246,739
Land for housing loans 8,531 277   -    -  8,808

  -  
Total 230,210 53,372 (3,018)   -  280,564

ASSOCIATION

GROUP

 
 
33 Parent undertaking and controlling party 
 

 
Wales & West Housing Association Limited is legally owned by its shareholders, but they are restricted 
and have no personal beneficial interest in the assets of the Association. The ultimate controlling party 
is considered to be the Board. 
 
Wales & West Housing Association Limited is the parent of the largest and smallest groups in which the 
results of the Group are consolidated. Copies of the consolidated financial statements are available on 
request from the registered address of the Association: 
 
Wales & West Housing Association Limited 
Archway House 
77 Parc Tŷ Glas 
Llanishen 
Cardiff  
CF14 5DU 
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